UC Merced

UC Merced Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Information Avoidance: An Interchangeable Mechanism of Self-Protection

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/5jg1k9mw

Author

Meese, William Bradford

Publication Date

2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, MERCED

Information Avoidance: An Interchangeable Mechanism of Self-Protection

THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

in Psychological Sciences

by

William Bradford Meese

Thesis Committee Assistant Professor Jennifer Lee Howell, Chair Professor Deborah Wiebe Associate Professor Matthew Zawadzki

DEDICATION

To

My Advisor, Jennifer Howell

My parents and friends

My fiancé Evan Foster

& The memory of those we have lost

In recognition of their love

"Only you and I can help the sun rise tomorrow, otherwise it will drown itself out in sorrow"

- Joan Baez

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| LIST OF TABLES | VII |
|--|--------|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | VIII |
| CURRICULUM VITAE | IX |
| ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS | XI |
| INFORMATION AVOIDANCE: AN INTERCHANGEABLE MECHANISM OF SELF-PROTEC | CTION1 |
| Self-Evaluation Maintenance | |
| Information Avoidance | |
| Information Avoidance: Proactive Self-Protection | |
| HEALTH INFORMATION: A CONTEXT FOR EXPLORING SELF-PROTECTION | |
| The Present Research | 3 |
| STUDY 1 | 6 |
| STUDY 1A | |
| PARTICIPANTS AND PROCEDURE | |
| Measures | |
| Heart Disease Risk Test | |
| Health Information Avoidance | |
| Feedback Valence | |
| Feedback Derogation | |
| Data Analysis | |
| RESULTS | |
| Information Avoidance Decision | |
| Feedback Derogation | |
| STUDY 1A DISCUSSION | |
| STUDY 1B | |
| Participants and Procedure | |
| Information Avoidance Decision | |
| Feedback Derogation | |
| - | |
| STUDY 2 | 11 |
| Participants and Procedure | |
| Results | 11 |
| Information Avoidance Decision | |
| Feedback Derogation | 11 |
| Study 2 Discussion | 12 |
| STUDY 3 | 14 |
| Participants and Procedure | 14 |
| Fictitious COVID-19 Risk Test | 15 |
| Information Avoidance | 16 |
| Feedback Derogation | 16 |
| Results | 16 |
| STUDY 2 DISCUSSION | 17 |

| STUDY 4 | 19 |
|--|----|
| PARTICIPANTS AND PROCEDURE | 19 |
| Manipulation Check | |
| Information Avoidance Decision | |
| Feedback Derogation | |
| DATA ANALYSIS | |
| RESULTS | |
| Manipulation Check | |
| Avoidance of Calorie Information | |
| Feedback Derogation | |
| Study 4 Discussion | |
| OTHERAL DISCUSSION | |
| GENERAL DISCUSSION | 22 |
| THEORETICAL AND PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS | 23 |
| LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS | 24 |
| CONCLUSION | 26 |
| REFERENCES | 28 |
| TABLES | 36 |
| APPENDIX A: MEASUREMENT SCALES | 49 |
| Predisposition to Avoid Health Information | 49 |
| Information Avoidance Decision | 49 |
| Study 1a and 1b | 49 |
| Study 2 | 49 |
| Study 3 | |
| Study 4 | 50 |
| FEEDBACK DEROGATION | 50 |

List of Tables

| TABLE 1 | 37 |
|----------|----|
| TABLE 2 | 38 |
| TABLE 3 | |
| Table 4 | |
| TABLE 5 | |
| Table 6 | |
| TABLE 7 | 43 |
| Table 8 | |
| Table 9 | 45 |
| TABLE 10 | 47 |
| TARLE 11 | 48 |

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful for the support I have received in the process of preparing this manuscript. Most importantly, Jenny Howell, my graduate advisor, has guided me through the first two years graduate school, providing the foundation of support that made this work possible. Through countless discussions, brainstorming sessions, drafts, Jenny has provided constructive feedback that gave me both the structure and freedom needed to produce this thesis and the intellectual growth it represents. I am further indebted to Jacky Hua, for her many contributions to this manuscript, for her personal and professional support, and for her companionship, particularly during those hours when few souls remained on campus.

The hours of climate-controlled labor that went into this manuscript would not have been possible without the love and support of my fiancé. In many ways my academic work is focused on understanding the resources people need to overcome threatening situations, but because it relies of frequentist statistics, there is so much that remains uncertain. But with Evan, I have learned, with certitude, what it means to be loved so completely, to be made whole by the embrace of another, to no longer be afraid because eternity will never be empty: We have become a resource for each other, carrying each other, with the mutuality of impenetrable faith, through the dark tunnels of life, a darkness that is cast away by the touch of our hands, by joyfulness emerges when our eyes meet, and our souls, dancing together, give us the strength to find meaning in life. Without him, this manuscript would not be possible, and wouldn't be worth reading.

There are many more people who I would like to acknowledge, and I hope that I do a good job of showing you my gratitude in our life together beyond these pages. I am appreciative of both Matthew Zawadzki and Deborah Wiebe for the time and effort they put into providing feedback on this manuscript and during my defense; they have provided a meaningful contribution to my intellectual growth that has and will continue to be an indispensable guide for my career. The Psychological Sciences department provided funding to supplement the funding provided by my advisor, specifically for Studies 2 and 3, and I am very grateful for the departments support of my work.

CURRICULUM VITAE

William B. Meese www.willmeesearch.com

EDUCATION

| PhD, Psychological Sciences, University of California, Merced | Expected 2025 |
|--|-----------------|
| Advisor: Jennifer L. Howell, PhD | |
| MA, Psychological Sciences, University of California, Merced | Expected 2022 |
| Advisor: Jennifer L. Howell, PhD | |
| Thesis: Information Avoidance: An Interchangeable Mechanism of | Self-Protection |
| BA, Psychology, Reed College | 2013 |
| Advisor: Kathryn Oleson, PhD | |
| Thesis: The Effects of Social Identity Threat on College Students wi | th ADHD |

AWARDS AND DISTINCTIONS

| William R. Shaddish Award for Leadership and Service, UC Merced | 2022 |
|--|------|
| Meritorious Abstract Award, Society for Behavioral Medicine | 2022 |
| Research Support Award, University of California, Merced | 2021 |
| Diversity Travel Award, Society for Personality and Social Psychology | 2021 |
| Graduate Student Diversity Registration Award, Association for Psychological Science | 2021 |
| Research Support Award, University of California, Merced | 2021 |
| Research Support Award, University of California, Merced | 2021 |
| Registration Award, Society for Personality and Social Psychology | 2020 |
| Professional Development Award, University of California, Merced | 2020 |

PUBLICATIONS

Peer-Reviewed Papers

Penberthy, J. K., Konig, A., Gioia, C. J., Rodríguez, V. M., Starr, J. A., **Meese, W.,** Worthington-Stoneman, D., Kersting, K., & Natanya, E. (2013). Mindfulness-Based Relapse Prevention: History, Mechanisms of Action, and Effects. Mindfulness, 6(2), 151–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-013-0239-1

CONFERENCES (Underlined Names Indicate Undergraduate Coauthor)

Talks

Meese, W. B. M. (2022, February 16–19). *Health Information Avoidance Tendencies Relate to Derogation of Feedback* [Invited Talk]. Health Preconference to the Society for Personality and Social Psychology Annual Convention, San Francisco, California.

Posters

- Meese, W. B. M., & Howell, J. L. H. (2022, February 16–19). *Health information avoidance tendencies relate to derogation of feedback* [Poster Session]. Society for Personality and Social Psychology, San Francisco, California. https://osf.io/w4hs8/
- **Meese, W. B. M.,** Hua, J. H., Johnson, A. E. J., Hinojosa, B. M. H., & Howell, J. L. H. (2022, April 6–10). *Health information avoidance: A representative sample of US adults* [Poster Session]. Society of Behavioral Medicine, Baltimore, Maryland. https://osf.io/jkg6h/

Meese, W. B. M., Hua, J. H., & Howell, J. L. H. (2022, April 27–May 1). *The measurement of health information avoidance depends on how and when it is asked* [Poster Session]. Western Psychological Association, Portland, Oregon. (Accepted but not presented)

<u>Dennis, J. D.</u>, **Meese, W. B. M.**, & Howell, J. L. H. (2022, May 26–29). *Black and Latinx student's experiences of everyday discrimination and wellbeing at a Hispanic Serving Institution* [Poster Session]. Association for Psychological Science, Chicago, Illinois.

Ranjan, S. R., Meese, W. B. M., Howell, J. L. H., Johnson, A. E. J., Hinojosa, B. M. H., Burton, R. B., & Rodarte, E. R. (2022, May 26–29). Why do people avoid health information: A qualitative analysis [Poster Session]. Association for Psychological Science, Chicago, Illinois.

TEACHING AND MENTORSHIP

Teaching

University of California, Merced

| Statistics for Psychology, Teaching Assistant | Spring, 2022 |
|--|--------------|
| Personality Psychology, Teaching Assistant | Fall, 2021 |
| Cultural Psychology, Teaching Assistant | Spring, 2021 |
| Research Methods in Psychology, Teaching Assistant | Fall, 2020 |

Undergraduate Mentorship

University of California, Merced

| Black Research Fellowship | 2021–2022 |
|---------------------------------|-----------|
| Independent Study in Psychology | 2021-2022 |

Research Team Training

Preparing for graduate school, Talk given to research assistants.

Experimental Validity, Talk given to research assistants.

How to get into Graduate School, Talk given to Psi Chi undergraduates

Service

| Co-Chair, Research Group, Disability Advocacy Resource Network | 2022-Present |
|---|--------------|
| Officer, Social Media Committee, HDM SIG, Society for Behavioral Medicine | 2022-Present |
| Reviewer, SPUR Research Program, SPSP | 2021 |
| Leader, SPSP Student Committee Writing Group | 2020-2021 |

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS

Society for Personality & Social Psychology (SPPS) Association for Psychological Science (APS) Society for Behavioral Medicine (SBM) Social Personality Health Network (SPHN) International Society for Self and Identity (ISSI)

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Information Avoidance: An Interchangeable Mechanism of Self-Protection

By

William Bradford Meese

Master of Science in Psychological Sciences

University of California, Merced 2022

Assistant Professor Jennifer Lee Howell, Chair

Across 4 studies, we examined whether information avoidance—the deliberate decision to remain ignorant of available information—serves a self-protective function that is interchangeable with other mechanisms of self-protection. We tested this idea by examining the relationship between information avoidance and defensive derogation of feedback. In Studies 1a and 1b, we examine whether people with a prior disposition to avoid would be more likely to derogate health information they received. We then replicated these findings in a large, confirmatory sample (Study 2). Study 3 experimentally ruled out two potential alternative explanations for the relationship established in Studies 1 and 2 by manipulating whether participants have an opportunity to avoid feedback (eliminating self-selection bias), and by presenting everyone with identical feedback (eliminating variance in the feedback received). Finally, Study 4 experimentally tested whether situations that should influence defensiveness—induction of self-(un)certainty—would increase (certainty) or decrease (uncertainty) both proactive avoidance and reactive defensiveness (Study 4). Taken together, results suggest that information avoidance is likely part of a broader self-protective system, and that people will substitute other mechanisms of self-protection for avoidance.

Keywords: defensiveness, self-evaluation, risk perception, self-protection, information avoidance

Information Avoidance: An Interchangeable Mechanism of Self-Protection

In Arthur Miller's play "An Enemy of the People" (Miller & Ibsen, 1951), a local scientist suspects the water in his town is contaminated. He attempts to warn his fellow townspeople of the risk but doing so threatens the development of a new spa that is essential to saving the town's languishing economy. They vociferously defend themselves, and their spa, by attacking the scientist—they actively avoid learning the results of his water-quality test and disparage both his character and his warning message. In fact, they drive him—their only scientist—out of town.

While it might be easy to dismiss a choice of deliberate ignorance as a strategy of fictional characters, a vast body of research suggests that many people will intentionally avoid learning information in important life domains ranging from their romantic relationships to their health—a behavior called *information avoidance* (see Howell et al., 2020; Sweeny et al., 2010 for reviews). In the present work, we examine the proposition that information avoidance is part of a broader psychological system of self-protection or, alternatively, a solitary decision that is unrelated to self-protection strivings.

Self-Evaluation Maintenance

People have a psychological system in place that helps to create and maintain positive views of themselves, their groups, and their environment (Alicke & Sedikides, 2009; Sedikides & Gregg, 2008), a sort of psychological homeostasis (Alicke et al., 2020). This system includes a collection of available mechanisms that counteract, upon encountering threatening self-evaluative information, any destabilizing effect on how people think and feel about themselves—particularly negative effects (Sedikides, 2021; Steele, 1988; Tesser, 2001).

The empirical literature is replete with examples of strategies that people can use, consciously or otherwise, to protect how they think and feel about themselves. These strategies include, for example, downward social comparison (Klein et al., 2001; Wills, 1981), information denial (Baumeister et al., 1998; Thompson et al., 2011; Wiebe & Korbel, 2003), and self-affirmation (Critcher et al., 2010; Steele, 1988). The collection of strategies was formally brought together when Tesser and colleagues (1996) coined the term "self-zoo" to describe the different interchangeable mechanisms that serve to protect important self-views from threat. Known generally as the principle of substitution, this idea—central to theories that predict maintenance of self-views—suggests that satisfying the need to protect oneself, like affirming global self-worth, decreases the propensity to engage in a subsequent strategy, like denial (Steele & Liu, 1983). For instance, when told that smoking causes lung cancer, a recalcitrant smoker who wishes to keep smoking and see themselves as healthy might think about others who smoke more frequently—using downward social comparison—or attempt to discredit the claim by disparaging the lack of experimental evidence. The goal is always the same: protecting the smoker's selfviews and behavior, maintaining psychological equanimity.

Information Avoidance

People avoid information in various domains including their finances (Blajer-Go\lebiewska et al., 2018; Karlsson et al., 2009), goal progress (Webb et al., 2013), health (Dwyer et al., 2015; Emanuel et al., 2015; Howell et al., 2020), attractiveness and peer evaluations (Howell et al., 2019), their romantic relationships (Hussain et al., 2021), environmental perils (Losee et al., 2020), consumer purchases (Deng et al., 2022), and

racial biases (Howell et al., 2015). Important to the present endeavor, people differ in the extent to which they both desire and decide to avoid information, a domain-specific tendency that is driven, theoretically, by the need to self-protect (Howell et al., 2020; Howell & Shepperd, 2016).

The idea that information avoidance serves a self-protective function is not new (Howell et al., 2019; McQueen et al., 2013, 2014; Sweeny et al., 2010). Research demonstrates that people who self-report avoiding information about cancer also report using defensive strategies like counter-arguing and denial (McQueen et al., 2014). Subsequent experimental work has examined this relationship, showing, for example, that people decide to avoid feedback about their attractiveness when it comes from sources that are more threatening to their self-view (Howell et al., 2019). Additionally, people avoid information when they do not feel they have the personal or interpersonal resources to manage the psycholoical threat it produces (Howell et al., 2014; Taber et al., 2015) or if they anticpate feeling regret (Sweeny & Miller, 2012).

Perhaps the strongest evidence that information avoidance is part of a broader system of self-protection comes from evidence that self-affirmation reduces avoidance (Howell & Shepperd, 2017). Self-affirmation theory proposed that affirming a person's important strengths and values can protect their self-view and self-integrity against psychological threat (Harris & Epton, 2009; Steele, 1988). Because of the consistency of this effect, it is widely used to experimentally decrease defensive responses to feedback (Reed & Aspinwall, 1998; D. K. Sherman & Cohen, 2006; Steele & Liu, 1983), and specifically to increase acceptance of threatening health information (Sweeney & Moyer, 2020). For example, people who smoke are less defensive, as measured by reduced feedback derogation, when told about their risk for lung cancer when an alternative, nonthreatened identity is made salient (Blondé et al., 2022). Self-affirmation processes also reduce information avoidance: People are more willing to learn genetic risk information insofar as they also report a tendency to think about their strengths in psychologically threatening situations (Ferrer et al., 2014) and are less likely avoid personal health risk feedback when they self-affirm, compared to those who do not self-affirm, prior to making the decision to learn or avoid their risk (Howell & Shepperd, 2012, 2017).

Information Avoidance: Proactive Self-Protection

Self-protection theories typically consider how people respond to known threats. The idea that people can proactively defend against anticipated threats, initially established by early research on self-handicapping (Arndt et al., 2002; Elliot & Church, 2003), has been theoretically suggested in the context of information avoidance (Howell et al., 2013), selective exposure (Fischer et al., 2005; Gibson, 2007), and bracing for bad news (Rankin & Sweeny, 2021; K. M. Taylor & Shepperd, 1998), but remains theoretically and empirically underdeveloped.

If information avoidance is part of a broader system of self-protection, then it should serve as a proactive mechanism of self-protection that is replaced by other mechanisms (Tesser et al., 2000). In this proactive-reactive framework, a reactive mechanism of self-protection serves as a replacement strategy for the need that would have otherwise been satisfied by proactively self-protecting. For example, a person who is dispositionally prone to avoid threatening self-relevant information—suggesting they are generally defensive toward that information—might proactively neutralize a self-

threat by deciding to avoid or reactively neutralize a self-threat with a different mechanism of self-protection, like derogation or denial.

To establish information avoidance as a mechanism of self-protection, then, presents a unique opportunity to extend self-protection theory. Theoretically elaborating strategies of proactive self-protection is important in part because it is difficult to disengage following exposure to threatening information (Koster et al., 2004), and the decision to avoid information is a behavior that can be experimentally tested using ecologically valid methods. More specifically, though, self-protection theory, as it stands, might predict that an employee would proactively protect by self-handicapping during a performance evaluation (Gibson, 2007; Tice, 1991), but is limited in the extent to which it considers proactive self-protection that does not involve sabotaging an evaluation. The decision to avoid information, alternatively, represents an opportunity to obviate knowing the contents of the threat altogether, to *proactively* and deliberately self-protect when confronted with the possibility of becoming aware of potentially threatening information.

Important to the present endeavor, overcoming the tendency to avoid information could, at first blush, indicate openness to feedback. But this might not always be true. Instead, the decision to learn information, when a greater desire to avoid it would predict otherwise, might indicate the presence of other defensive strategies, like feedback derogation (Briñol et al., 2006). Nevetheless, as far as we are aware, no study to date has directly tested the proposition that people will replace the decision to avoid with other forms of defensive self-protection. Additionally, no work has examined whether indvidual differences in the propensity to avoid serve as an indicator of this broader defensive orientation toward information.

Health Information: A Context for Exploring Self-Protection

Health information, when it conflicts the need to view oneself as generally healthy (S. E. Taylor & Brown, 1988), is psychologically threatening: It reminds people of their own mortality and threatens their worldview (Goldenberg & Arndt, 2008), threatens their need to belong (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Leary et al., 1994), and threatens important self-views (Klein et al., 2001). Health risk information increases anxiety, fear, and other negative emotions (Maloney et al., 2011; Witte & Allen, 2000); the possibility of serious or chronic illness, in turn, increases feelings of self-uncertainty as people imagine a transition to becoming a patient (Nanton et al., 2016): Threatening health information does not make people feel good about themselves.

But health information can be critical to preserving and sustaining life and people should be motivated to seek and accept accurate health information without delay. Instead, those with an increased health risk often to not accept their risk status (Lipkus et al., 2018). That is, when health information is threatening, people consistently respond defensively by denying or rejecting the message (Gibbons et al., 2004; Hall et al., 2017; Kunda, 1987; D. A. K. Sherman et al., 2000; Wiebe & Korbel, 2003). Because of this apparent contradiction, testing whether people replace health information avoidance with other defensive responses, thereby implicating health information avoidance as a mechanism of self-protection, is both theoretically interesting and practically important.

The Present Research

We sought to examine whether information avoidance might be part of a broader psychological system of self-protection in two ways. First, across 4 studies, 5 samples,

and 13 different types of health information, we examined whether the predisposition to avoid information is related to reactive mechanisms of self-protection. Relying on the theoretical principle of substitutability, (Steele & Liu, 1983; Tesser et al., 1996), we broadly expected that people who were predisposed toward health information avoidance would respond defensively by derogating personalized health risk feedback if they do not initially decide to avoid. That is, if people who are dispositionally prone to avoid self-relevant information do not proactively self-protect—by deciding to avoid—they will reactively self-protect—by defensively derogating the feedback they receive.

Study 1 provided an initial exploratory demonstration of the relationship between the predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation among participants who did not actively avoid their risk of heart disease (Study 1a) and melanoma skin cancer (Study 1b). We hypothesized that an increased predisposition to avoid health information would relate to increased feedback derogation—suggesting that people who wish to avoid, but refrain from this defensive tendency, will replace it with a different form of self-protection. Importantly, if information avoidance does not serve a self-protective function, then we would expect there to be no relationship between the predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation for those who do not decide to avoid.

Study 2 and 3 extended Study 1 by systematically ruling out alternative explanations that, if supported by the evidence, would contradict our theoretical proposition. Study 2 directly replicated Study 1, testing the same hypothesis by using a high-powered, pre-registered, confirmatory sample. To control for idiosyncratic differences associated with each risk test, and the health threat it assesses, Study 2 randomly assigned participants to one of nine possible health risk tests. Study 3 introduced two preregistered experimental controls to eliminate possible alternative explanations for the correlational results observed in Studies 1 and 2 by presenting everyone with the same risk feedback—thus controlling for the effect of feedback valance—and by introducing a comparison condition of participants without an opportunity to avoid, to examine the possible contribution of selective attrition. We again predicted that feedback derogation would be positively related to the predisposition to avoid health information, but, importantly, that the magnitude and direction of this effect would *not* depend on having an opportunity to avoid. This comparison is important because of the possibility that Studies 1 and 2, by design, used a restricted range of defensiveness because they only examine the relationship between the predisposition to avoid and feedback derogation for those who do not actively avoid. No prior research has examined what happens when those who otherwise would have avoided are not given an opportunity to do so.

Then, after testing whether the predisposition to avoid information predicted reactive self-protection to risk information that participants received, Study 4 experimentally tested whether situations that should increase/decrease self-protection strivings also increase/decrease both the decision to avoid information and feedback derogation. If information avoidance does not serve a self-protective function, then we would expect that the rate at which people decide to avoid will not change in situations that affect the need to self-protect. Specifically, Study 4 introduced two comparison conditions where participants were made to feel either certain or uncertain about

themselves (Hogg et al., 2007; Niedbala & Hohman, 2019). Consistent with research showing that people made to feel uncertain about themselves become less defensive towards self-relevant information (DeMarree et al., 2007; Swann & Schroeder, 1995) and more likely to seek diagnostic information (Leonardelli & Lakin, 2010), we hypothesized that, compared to a control group, people made to feel uncertain about themselves would be less likely to decide to avoid feedback and less likely to derogate the calorie information they received and that people made to feel certain about themselves would be more likely to avoid and more likely to derogate the calorie information they received.

Study 1

The primary aim of Study 1 was to examine whether people who would ordinarily avoid health information, but still learn it, respond more defensively to health risk feedback. To do so, we examined the correlation between individual differences in the predisposition to avoid health information and people's reaction to health information they chose to learn. We analyzed data collected from two existing studies on health information avoidance. In both samples, participants completed a disease risk test. We hypothesized that participants who scored high in general and specific (e.g., heart disease) information avoidance, as a predisposition, would be more likely to decide to avoid their risk feedback (Hypothesis 1) and more likely to derogate their risk feedback if they did not decide to avoid it (Hypothesis 2). Finally, to rule out one possible alternative explanation, we explored the extent to which the findings could be explained by variance associated with the relative severity of the risk feedback participants received. People respond more defensively when they receive bad news about their health (de Hoog et al., 2007; D. A. K. Sherman et al., 2000); if information avoidance does not serve a selfprotective function, then the variance in feedback derogation should be explained by the severity of risk feedback, because it has been established as a consistent predictor of defensive responding, and the predisposition to avoid health information should no longer relate to feedback derogation, because it would not provide any incremental gain in variance explained. Consistent with this logic, we predicted that the relationship between the propensity to avoid information and feedback derogation would remain after controlling for the content of risk feedback presented to participants (Hypothesis 3).

Study 1a

Study 1a aimed to provide an initial test by examining derogation of personalized risk feedback for heart disease. The data were from the control condition of a published study which tested the effect of asking people to contemplate the pros and cons of receiving their risk feedback on avoidance of risk feedback (Howell et al., 2016). None of the primary data reported here have been reported elsewhere.

Participants and Procedure

The original study compensated participants \$1.81 for a survey on an online participant recruitment platform (Mturk.com) and randomly assigned them to a contemplation condition or a no-contemplation (passive control) condition. The data reported here belong to participants in the control-condition who completed the measurements for our variables of interest (e.g., information avoidance and feedback derogation measurements; N = 75; $M_{age} = 30.45$ years, $SD_{age} = 12.39$ years; 57.33% identified assigned male at birth, 42.67% identified assigned female at birth, we did not request gender identity). We did not determine the sample size and do not report observed power because of the problems associated with post-hoc power analysis (Lakens, 2021).

Participants completed an online risk test for heart disease. Then, in counterbalanced order, decided to receive or avoid their risk feedback and responded to measures of general health and heart disease-specific information avoidance. Only participants who selected that they wanted to receive their risk (N = 49) received their risk feedback and responded to items measuring feedback derogation. Those who avoided

(N = 26) did not receive feedback and thus did not complete the measure of feedback derogation.

Measures

Heart Disease Risk Test

All participants completed a risk test for heart disease adapted from an online risk test made available by the Siteman Cancer Center, Washington University, St. Louis (Siteman Cancer Institute, 2021, https://siteman.wustl.edu/prevention/ydr/). Participants responded to questions about their health like "How often do you eat unsaturated fats, like vegetable oil" and "Do you walk (or do other moderate activity) for at least 30 minutes on most days, or at least 3 hours per week?"

Health Information Avoidance

Predisposition Toward Information Avoidance. We measured the predisposition to avoid health information in general and to avoid heart disease specific risk information using a scale designed to measure the chronic, trait-like desire to avoid self-relevant information (Howell & Shepperd, 2016). This scale is a valid and reliable measurement of a person's desire to avoid information in the domain to which the scale is adapted (Howell & Shepperd, 2016). Development of this scale focused on predicting those who are dispositionally resistant and defensive towards threatening information about themselves. Consistent with our characterization of this scale, it is positively related to other defensive processes, including preference for defensive coping strategies (i.e., blunting, minimization), and traits (e.g., neuroticism), and negatively related to processes that oppose defensiveness, including preference for coping strategies like monitoring and threat-related self-resources like self-esteem.

In this study, participants responded to items like, "I would rather not know information about my health [heart disease risk]" and reverse coded items like "Even if it will upset me, I want to know information about my health [heart disease risk]" (1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree). Higher scores indicate a greater predisposition to avoid health information (general health information avoidance: M = 2.91, SD = 1.55, $\alpha = 0.92$, $\lambda_6 = 0.97$; heart-disease risk information avoidance: M = 2.70, SD = 1.52, $\alpha = 0.91$, $\lambda_6 = 0.97$). In the original study, participants responded to 10 items: We restrict our analysis to the eight items that match the validated version of the scale.

Information Avoidance Decision. Participants responded to the item "Based on your responses to the risk test we can give you your comparative risk for heart disease at the end of this survey (Your risk will indicate whether you are at higher, lower, or similar risk as someone your same age and sex at birth)" with the response options "Yes, please give me my risk for heart disease" (the default option) and "No, I do not want to learn my risk for heart disease." In total 34.67% of participants chose to avoid learning their risk for heart disease.

Feedback Valence

We computed a comparative risk score in the survey by using the odds ratio data provided by the Siteman Cancer Institute (Siteman Cancer Institute, 2021, https://siteman.wustl.edu/prevention/ydr/). Each score was algorithmically evaluated against cutoff scores to determine appropriate feedback (computed for all participants but only presented it to those who did not decide to avoid it). We used a numerical representation of feedback valence (1 = significantly lower risk, 9 = significantly higher

risk; M = 2.23, SD = 2.37) rather than the raw risk score in our analysis because it represents the feedback participants received. Additional details of this process for all risk tests are included in the online supplemental material (https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view_only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2).

Feedback Derogation

After receiving risk feedback, participants indicated their agreement with five statements adapted from previously validated measures of defensive responding to health communication (McQueen et al., 2013, 2014; Ruiter et al., 2003) like "my risk feedback is distorted" and reverse coded items like "my risk feedback is accurate" (reverse coded; $1 = strongly\ disagree,\ 7 = strongly\ agree$). Higher scores indicate greater feedback derogation ($M = 3.08,\ SD = 1.13;\ \alpha = 0.79,\ \lambda_6 = 0.89$).

Data Analysis

All data analyses were conducted in R Studio (version 2022.02.3+492). Scale means were computed using the Psych Package (Revelle, 2022, version 2.2.3). We conducted binomial logistic regression in base R (R Core Team, 2022, version 4.2.0) to examine the relationship, in separate logistic regression models, between the predisposition to avoid both general health information as well as heart-disease-risk information specifically and the decision to avoid heart-disease-risk feedback. Next, we examined the relationship between the predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation using partial correlation to control for the risk feedback valence. We computed two partial correlations, one for the predisposition to avoid health information in general, and one for heart-disease-risk information, using the ppcor package (version 1.1) in R (Kim, 2015). All data and analysis scripts are publicly available at (https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view_only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2). Table 1 contains descriptive and reliability statistics for all measures; Table 2 and Table 3 provide correlations for all variables in Study 1a and Study 1b.

Results

Information Avoidance Decision

We conducted two separate logistic regression models predicting the decision to avoid, one for general health information avoidance and one for heart-disease-risk specific health information avoidance. Consistent with prior work establishing the scale (Howell & Shepperd, 2016), both a greater tendency to avoid general health information, OR = 1.82, $CI_{95\%} = [1.29, 2.71]$, b = 0.60, $CI_{95\%} = [0.25, 1.00]$, z = 3.20, p = .001, as well as a greater tendency to avoid heart-disease-risk specific information, OR = 2.62, $CI_{95\%} = [1.72, 4.37]$, b = 0.96, $CI_{95\%} = [0.54, 1.47]$, z = 4.09, p < .001, related to an increased likelihood of avoiding risk feedback.

Feedback Derogation

As expected, the predisposition to avoid health information in general related to increased derogation of risk feedback, r = .37, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [0.10, 0.59]$, p = .01. However, the predisposition to avoid information specific to heart disease was not related to feedback derogation, r = .20, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [-0.08, 0.46]$, p = .16. Neither effect changed substantively after controlling for participants' risk feedback: general health information avoidance propensity: $r_{partial} = .34$, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [0.06, 0.57]$, p = .02; heart-disease-specific information avoidance: $r_{partial} = .22$, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [-0.07, 0.47]$, p = .14.

Study 1a Discussion

The results from Study 1a provide initial evidence to suggest that information avoidance may be part of a broader system of self-protection: Among those who did not avoid their risk feedback, general health information avoidance tendencies, but not avoidance tendency specifically related to heart disease risk information, was related to feedback derogation. We are cautious not to overinterpret these results for two reasons. First, participants in our sample were from the control condition of an intervention study, limiting the size of the sample. More importantly, 82.5% of the participants in our sample were younger than 41 years old—the age at which the risk test becomes less valid—limiting the relevance of risk feedback for heart disease. Indeed, the most common risk feedback participants received indicated a *significantly lower risk* for heart disease compared people the same age and sex at birth. Despite these limitations, these data provide preliminary evidence of a positive, linear relationship between the general tendency to avoid health information avoidance as a proactive mechanism of self-protection and derogation of health feedback, a reactive mechanism of self-protection.

Study 1b

Study 1b was identical to Study 1a with two exceptions: First, the sample was from a larger, non-experimental study. Second, we used a risk test for melanoma skin cancer. Data for Study 1b were from an unrelated data collection effort (Howell et al., 2016), but none of the primary data reported here have been reported elsewhere. All hypotheses remained the same.

Participants and Procedure

The original research recruited respondents, via an online participant recruitment platform (Mturk.com), who received \$0.51 for completing the study. The data presented here are from all participants who completed measurements for variables of interest (N = 150, $M_{age} = 33.08$, $SD_{age} = 12.61$; 70 women and 80 men). The design and procedure were identical to those in Study 1a, except participants completed a risk test for melanoma skin cancer, rather than heart disease, and they were not participating in an experiment. All measures, too, were identical, except they were adapted to melanoma skin cancer risk rather than heart disease risk. Because feedback derogation was only measured among participants who did not decide to avoid their risk feedback, the statistical model predicting feedback derogation only includes data from these respondents (N = 121).

Results

Information Avoidance Decision

Like Study 1a, both the general tendency to avoid health information, OR = 2.66, $CI_{95\%} = [1.74, 4.47]$, b = 0.98, $CI_{95\%} = [0.56, 1.50]$, z = 4.13, p < .001, and the predisposition to avoid risk information specific to melanoma skin cancer, OR = 2.65, $CI_{95\%} = [1.75, 4.36]$, b = 0.97, $CI_{95\%} = [0.56, 1.47]$, z = 4.23, p < .001, predicted the decision to avoid melanoma-skin-cancer-risk feedback. In total, 19.33% of participants decided to avoid their risk for melanoma skin cancer.

Feedback Derogation

Both the predisposition to avoid health information in general, r = .20, $CI_{95\%} = [0.02, 0.37]$, p = .03, and information specific to melanoma skin cancer, r = .24, $CI_{95\%} = [0.06, 0.40]$, p = .01, related to feedback derogation (again, for those who received their risk feedback). Importantly, both effects persisted after controlling for feedback valence:

health information in general, $r_{partial} = .20$, $CI_{95\%} = [0.02, 0.36]$, p = .03; melanoma skin cancer information, $r_{partial} = .25$, $CI_{95\%} = [0.07, 0.41]$, p < .01.

Study 1b Discussion

These data replicated Study 1a and further suggest that people might turn to feedback derogation as a replacement defensive strategy when they might typically decide to avoid feedback. Moreover, the finding that wanting to avoid information specific to melanoma skin cancer in Study 1b predicted feedback derogation suggests the presence of defensives processes because, unlike Study 1a, the risk feedback is self-relevant and potentially threatening. Still, both studies were collected for another purpose and had somewhat-small sample sizes, so we aimed to replicate the results in preregistered a high-powered confirmatory study.

Study 2

To replicate the results from Study 1a and 1b, Study 2 used a preregistered, high-powered, confirmatory, and census matched (age, sex at birth, and race) sample. All procedures and hypotheses remained the same, except we randomly assigned participants to one of nine possible risk tests to ensure that the effects observed could not be attributed to idiosyncratic differences related to a specific disease threat or the assessment thereof. All procedures were approved by the institutions ethical review board.

Participants and Procedure

Participants (N = 1,144 adults), recruited using an online participant recruitment platform (Prolific.co), received \$1.22 for completing the study ($M_{age} = 44.04$ years, SD_{age} = 16.52 years; 587 indicated that they were assigned female at birth, 556 indicated that they were assigned male assigned at birth, 1 person chose not to answer) as part of a larger study examining information avoidance. None of the data from this study have been published, and all materials are available in the online supplement (https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2). Participants completed one of nine possible health-risk tests: (1, N = 150) heart-disease (2, N = 155)stroke (3, N = 138) diabetes, (4, N = 130) prediabetes, (5, N = 142) lung cancer, (6, N = 130)144) colon cancer, (7, N=144) melanoma skin cancer, (8, N=73) breast cancer, and (9, N=73)N = 68) prostate cancer. We randomized assignment to risk tests but applied the following five restrictions: (1) participants who indicated they were assigned male at birth were not randomized to the breast cancer risk test, (2) participants who indicated they were assigned female at birth or who declined to indicate their sex assigned at birth were not randomized to the prostate cancer risk test, (3) participants who indicated a prior history of heart-attack were not randomized to the heart-disease risk test, (4) participants who indicated a prior diagnosis of diabetes were not randomized to either the diabetes or prediabetes risk tests, and (5) participants who indicated a prior diagnoses of cancer were not randomized to any of the cancer-related risk tests. The remainder of the study was identical to Studies 1a and 1b except that we did not measure predisposition towards disease-specific information avoidance to reduce participant burden and reserve time for other tasks. Table 4 provides correlations among the measures in Study 2.

Results

Information Avoidance Decision

Consistent with the findings from Studies 1a and 1b, those who reported a greater desire to avoid health information generally were more likely to decide to avoid their risk feedback, OR = 2.30, CI_{95%} = [1.91, 2.79], b = 0.83, CI_{95%} = [0.65, 1.02], z = 8.62, p < .001. There were no differences in the rate at which participants decided to avoid across all risk tests. Specifically, a chi-squared test revealed that the rate of avoidance did not significantly differ from the average (15%) across all risk tests, $x^2(9, 1.144) = 8.47$, p = .49. However, inspection of differences between specific risk tests revealed participants assigned to the lung cancer risk test (21.13%) avoided at a higher rate than those assigned to the breast cancer risk test (8.22%), $x^2(1, 215) = 4.87$, p = .02.

Feedback Derogation

To model the relationship between the predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation, we used data from participants who received feedback and responded to it (like Study 1). We initially examined differences in feedback derogation

across assigned risk tests using one-way ANOVA, which revealed that feedback derogation statistically differed across groups, F(8, 959) = 10.85, p < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .08$, $CI_{95\%} = [0.05, 0.10]$, see Table 5 for additional details; derogation was lowest in the heart-disease condition (M = 2.15, SD = 0.72) and highest in the lung cancer condition (M = 3.01, SD = 0.95), please see Table 6 for additional details.

Given the presence of differences in feedback derogation across risk tests, taken together with the unequal probability of selection as described in our sampling plan, we decided that multi-level modelling was an appropriately conservative test of our hypotheses. We conducted restricted maximum likelihood multi-level modelling with the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2015, version 1.1-29) in RStudio (version 2022.02.3+492) to examine the extent to which derogation is influenced by the predisposition to avoid, as a fixed effect at level 1. Also, like Study 1, we analyzed a second model that included feedback valence as an additional fixed effect at level 1. Both the predisposition to avoid and feedback valence were group-mean centered (Peugh, 2010), and p values were calculated using Satterthwaite degrees of freedom. The intraclass coefficient across assigned risk tests was .09. Additional details, including model equations, are provided in online supplementary material

(https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view_only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2). Our primary interest was in the fixed effect of the propensity to avoid health information in general on feedback derogation for those who received risk feedback, controlling for the fixed effect of feedback valence and the random, group-level effects of slope and intercept.

Overall, there was a statistically significant between-persons fixed effect of the increased predisposition to avoid on feedback derogation, b = 0.19, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [0.12, 0.26]$, t(958.28) = 5.46, p < .001, indicating that the effects reported in Study 1 remain after controlling for variance attributed to differences between groups. This effect remained after adding feedback valence, b = 0.19, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [0.13, 0.26]$, t(957.26) = 5.64, p < .001. These findings suggests that a greater predisposition to avoid related to greater feedback derogation, please see Table 7 for a complete summary of both models.

Study 2 Discussion

Taken together, the results from Studies 1a, 1b, and 2 provide strong, correlational evidence for a relationship between a predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation to received health information, that this relationship, which cannot only be alternatively explained by differences in the severity of risk feedback, is not unique to a specific disease threat or method of assessing one's risk for that disease.

Of course, given the correlational nature of the results, alternative explanations exist. First, it is possible that there is some unmeasurable self-selection effect on feedback derogation. Because we only observed the relationship between the predisposition to avoid and feedback derogation among those who chose to receive (and not avoid) their feedback, it not possible to ascertain the influence of a self-selection effect (i.e., those who don't want feedback but say 'yes' are particularly negative toward that feedback). Second, because we computed scientifically accurate risk scores for everyone, the feedback participants received was inherently variable. While the observed relationships persisted even when controlling for feedback valance, there remains an asyet-unknown constellation of complex cognitions surrounding feedback, the variance of

which might partially explain the effect established by Studies 1 and 2. We designed Study 3 to address both concerns with experimental control.

Study 3

Study 3 used a preregistered¹ experimental design to address the aforementioned limitations of Studies 1 and 2. First, it controlled for the effect of variance due to feedback valence by presenting everyone with the same feedback. Second, it introduced a group of participants who were not given the option to avoid their risk feedback (*no choice condition*) to compare to participants who, like Study 1 and 2, were given the option to avoid their risk feedback (*choice condition*). We again predicted that participants would be more likely to derogate their feedback to the extent that they were higher in the predisposition to avoid health information (Hypotheses 1). Importantly, we did not suspect that this relationship would be moderated by whether participants had a choice to receive their feedback or not (Hypothesis 2). Indeed, the effect of choice condition should only moderate the relationship between the predisposition to avoid and feedback derogation if the findings from Study 1 and 2 exist only among those who choose to learn information (and not prior disposition to avoid as an individual difference variable).

As an additional indicator of whether information avoidance might serve an interchangeable self-protective function, Study 3 examined differences in feedback derogation between the *choice* and *no choice* conditions. If information avoidance serves a self-protective function, then feedback derogation should increase in the no-choice condition, because participants in the choice condition who would otherwise derogate their feedback had an opportunity to proactively self-protect by deciding to avoid (Hypothesis 3). Put another way, because the choice condition only measured derogation for those who did not decide to avoid, those who satisfied the need to self-protect (by avoiding) will not remain in the sample. All procedures were approved by the institution's ethical review board.

Participants and Procedure

We recruited 249 participants from an online participant recruitment platform (Prolific.co). Sample size was determined and preregistered in advance primarily due to resource constraints; a compromise power analysis conducted in Gpower indicates power is approximately 0.92 to detect an effect size of 0.2 for our two-group design with one covariate and interactions. All participants received \$1.21 for completing the study. We removed data from 11 participants: seven did not give us permission to use their data and four took the survey twice (identical prolific ID). The final data contained observations from 238 participants ($M_{age} = 28.80$ years, $SD_{age} = 10.24$ years; 47.48% identified as female, 50.42% as male, and 2.10% as non-binary, agender, or gender non-conforming; 66.80% identified as White or Caucasian, 10.10% as Hispanic/Latino, 9.24% as Black or African-American, 5.04% as Asian, 2.52% as Middle Eastern, 0.42% as American Indian, Alaska Native, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, 5.04% indicated something other than options listed, and 0.84% participants chose not to answer).

_

¹ https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2

After providing consent, participants responded to a fictitious risk test that we designed to ostensibly calculate a person's risk of transmitting COVID-19 to other people. Data collection occurred between June 26, 2021, and June 29, 2021. We randomly assigned participants to either a *choice* condition (N = 118) or a *no-choice* condition (N = 120). The *choice* condition replicates the procedure in Study 1: Participants decided to receive or avoid their risk feedback. In the *no-choice* condition, all participants received feedback. Everyone completed measures of health information avoidance (general health and COVID-19 specific) in counterbalanced order. Everyone except those in the *choice* condition who actively avoided (N = 7) received the same false feedback that their risk for transmitting COVID-19 to other people was moderately high in general, and slighter higher than other people their same age². Everyone who received risk feedback then responded to items measuring feedback derogation. Please see Table 1 for descriptive and reliability statistics for all measures, and Table 8 for correlations between variables measured in Study 3. For a list of other measures included during data collection, please see the online supplementary material at (https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view_only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2).

Titlps://ost.to/t/cuz/:view_oiity=03030003ee134004a00e6/004ee/e3

Fictitious COVID-19 Risk Test

Participants responded to 17 items that ostensibly measured their risk of transmitting COVID-19 to other people. We designed the risk test using an iterative process to improve its perceived credibility, pilot testing it on a range of health professionals, psychologists, undergraduate research assistants, and laypersons, receiving and incorporating feedback to improve the design and credibility of the risk test. We retained a final set of 17 items because they were sufficiently credible yet ambiguous that a reasonably informed person would believe that their risk of spreading COVID-19 was higher than others based on their responses. For example, participants responded to items like "On average, how often do you find yourself closer than 6 feet from another person who is not a member of your household. You should include all times this happens, even when everyone involved is wearing a face covering" and "Please indicate the number of days you go out to the store (e.g., grocery store, pharmacy, or retail shop)."

For additional context, at the time of data collection, the 7-day average of new reported cases in the United States was approximately 12,030 cases (Times, 2020) and 338.29 million COVID-19 vaccine doses administered (Our World in Data, n.d.). Additionally, popular news articles had been raising awareness about concerns over the delta variant of COVID-19 (Rabin et al., 2021) and risky behavior as a barrier to mass immunity (Smith et al., 2021), particularly because less than 1/3 of adults between the age of 18 and 39 had received a dose of the vaccine (Baack, 2021, p. 19). We did not analyze the results of responses to the risk test but provide the full test and item-level descriptive statistics in the supplementary material

(https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2).

² Participants also responded to an attention check, though excluding people who failed the attention check did not change the results of our analysis. Please see online supplement for model comparison (https://osf.io/t7cuz/?view only=b565dbb5ee134d64ab8e876b4ee7e5d2).

Information Avoidance

Predisposition Toward Information Avoidance.

We measured predisposition to avoid health information in general ($M=1.85, SD=0.68, \alpha=0.85, \lambda_6=0.89$) and specific to COVID-19 transmission risk ($M=1.83, SD=0.68, \alpha=0.87, \lambda_6=0.92$) with the same scale used in Studies 1 and 2 (Howell & Shepperd, 2016). Specifically, participants responded to items like "I would avoid learning my risk for spreading COVID-19" and reverse coded items like, "Even if it will upset me, I want to know my risk for spreading COVID-19." Higher scores indicate greater predisposition to avoid information ($1=strongly\ disagree,\ 5=strongly\ agree$).

Information Avoidance Decision.

Participants assigned to the choice condition responded to the item "Based on your responses to the risk test we can give you your comparative risk for transmitting COVID-19 to other people at the end of this survey (Your risk will indicate whether you are at higher, lower, or similar risk as someone your same age)" with the response options "Yes, please give me my risk for spreading COVID-19 to other people" (again, the default) and "No, I do not want to learn my risk for spreading COVID-19 to other people." In total 5.93% (N=7) of participants in the choice condition (N=111) chose to avoid learning their risk for spreading COVID-19 to other people. At the end of the study, after responding to derogation items, participants in the no-choice condition responded to a hypothetical information avoidance item: "If I had been given the option to receive feedback about my risk for spreading COVID-19 or not, I think my gut reaction would have been to," and given the response options, "Choose NOT to receive my risk feedback," or "Choose to receive my risk feedback." Of the participants in the no-choice condition, 10.00% (N=12) indicated that they would have decided to avoid, while 90.00% (N=108) indicated that they would not have decided to avoid.

Feedback Derogation

Participants responded to 12 items to measure feedback derogation. Items in this measure are adapted from previously validated measures of defensive responses to health communications (Hall et al., 2017, 2017; McQueen et al., 2013). Items included those used in Study 1 and 2, and additional items like "My feedback is stupid," "...is pointless," and "...is misleading." Higher scores indicate greater feedback derogation (M = 2.62, SD = 0.78, $\alpha = 0.92$, $\lambda_6 = 0.94$; 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree).

Results

Consistent with the results reported in Studies 1 and 2, both the prior disposition to avoid health information in general, b = 0.27, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [0.08, 0.46]$, t(227) = 2.79, p < .01 and specific to COVID-19 transmission risk, b = 0.28, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [0.08, 0.47]$, t(227) = 2.29, p < .01, were positively related to feedback derogation. Neither the effect of general health information avoidance, b = -0.02, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [-0.31, 0.28]$, t(227) = -0.11, p = .91, nor the effect of COVID -19 transmission risk specific information avoidance, b = -0.02, $\text{CI}_{95\%} = [-0.32, 0.27]$, t(227) = -0.16, p = .87 was moderated by condition. Full regression results appear in Table 9 and Table 10.

Consistent with the notion that information avoidance is a proactive defensive behavior, that is part of the same self-protection system that includes feedback derogation, participants in the no-choice condition (M = 2.76, SD = .84) derogated their

feedback more than participants in the choice condition (M = 2.46, SD = .69), $M_{difference} = .30$, $CI_{95\%} = [0.10, 0.50]$, t(229) = 2.96, p = .003, d = .39, $CI_{95\%} = [0.13, 0.65]$.

Study 3 Discussion

Taken together, the results from Studies 1-3 suggest that information avoidance is likely part of the broader self-protection system that includes derogating self-threatening information: An increased predisposition to avoid is consistently related to increased feedback derogation. Importantly, this effect remains after controlling, statistically and experimentally, for possible alternative explanations that, if true, would contradict our theoretical proposition. Furthermore, Study 3 suggests the results observed in Studies 1 and 2 were unlikely to have been due to the nuance of providing people choice and actual feedback.

There remains the possibility that, because only seven participants decided to avoid their risk feedback in the choice condition, Study 3 did not provide an adequate comparison of self-selection effects. We planned this study assuming that the threat of learning your risk of spreading COVID-19 to other people would be psychological threatening, and that if the relationship we found in Studies 1 and 2 was a design artifact, and indeed there is no relationship or a negative relationship between the predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation when participants do not have an opportunity to avoid, then this positive slope would either disappear or reverse direction when participants are not provided with a choice. This point is important because no prior research has examined, experimentally, what happens when people who would have decided to avoid are not given an opportunity to avoid. That so few participants decided to avoid their risk feedback is an undeniable limitation in this sample, but, we argue, the results from this study continue to provide strong support for our hypotheses, primarily because our theoretical test did not rely on demonstrably high levels of avoidance in the choice condition, simply that the slope would remain the same when there was no opportunity to avoid. If the relationship between the predisposition to avoid health information and feedback derogation, reported in Studies 1 and 2, relied on providing participants with an opportunity to avoid, this relationship would have been moderated by condition.

We did not preregister or plan a comparison of the decision to avoid in the choice condition or the hypothetical-would-you-avoid item in the no-choice condition; and hypothetical avoidance remained quite low (N = 12). Still, post-hoc examination revealed that participants in the no-choice condition who indicated at the end of the study that they would have decided to avoid their risk feedback if they were given a choice had meaningfully higher levels of feedback derogation than other participants.

Another possibility is that feedback derogation was higher in the no-choice condition because participants need for autonomy was thwarted in this condition. That is, the choice condition created an autonomy supportive context, thus decreasing the need to self-protect, and the no-choice created an autonomy thwarting context, thus increasing the need to self-protect. This alternative explanation does not contradict our theoretical proposition. Indeed, if information avoidance does serve a self-protective function, then we should see that a context which decreases self-protection strivings, like an autonomy supportive context, should decrease self-protection strivings, an idea we turn to in study 4.

Together, these studies provide evidence that people who might have otherwise derogated their feedback never received their feedback and that this effect likely cannot be explained by self-selection bias, by variation in the content, domain, or relative severity of feedback provided, or by idiosyncratic differences in the specific method of assessment. However, these studies are further limited by their reliance on objective risk assessment: What happens when participants are not asked to complete a risk assessment? If information avoidance is truly part of the broader self-protection system (one that includes information derogation), then situations that reduce the need to self-protect and promote acceptance of objective, diagnostic information should reduce both avoidance and feedback derogation, while situations that increase the need to self-protect should have the opposite effect.

Study 4

Hitherto, our argument has relied on the relationship between the predisposition to avoid information and derogation of feedback, but not situations associated with changes in the need to self-protect. Moreover, the feedback presented to participants, determined using a risk test that asked participants to report past behavior, potentially confounds the effect of interest with characteristics the risk test (e.g., self-perception processes, dishonest responding) and the experiential context of engaging in a self-assessment task.

So, to extend our work on establishing information avoidance as a mechanism of self-protection in the self-system, Study 4 experimentally manipulated the extent to which participants felt certain or uncertain about themselves. Feeling certain can make people more defensive towards self-relevant information—especially if it might disrupt that certainty—whereas feeling uncertain can make people less defensive and more open to information—particularly if it can help resolve uncertainty (Albarracín & Mitchell, 2004; DeMarree et al., 2007; Ng et al., 2022). To further demonstrate the relationship between information avoidance and psychological self-protection processes, particularly in the absence of self-assessment through a health risk test, we tested the idea that activating uncertainty would decrease both information avoidance (Hypothesis 1a) and feedback derogation (Hypothesis 2a) and that activating certainty would increase information avoidance (Hypothesis 1b) and feedback derogation (Hypothesis 2b).

Participants and Procedure

Participants included 243 undergraduate students ($M_{\rm age} = 20.02$ years, $SD_{\rm age} = 2.51$ years; 69.55% Female, 29.63% Male, 0.82% Other; 58.44% Hispanic/Latino(a/x), 19.75% Asian, 7.82% Black, 6.17% White, 7.82% Multiracial/Other) who participated in the study for partial fulfillment of research participation requirements. We recruited as many participants as we could in one semester for the study, which determined our sample size.

After obtaining informed consent, we randomly assigned participants to one of three conditions: uncertainty, certainty, or active control. This manipulation has been consistently used, successfully, to generate feelings of both self-certainty and selfuncertainty (Hogg et al., 2007; Morrison & Johnson, 2011), particularly in the context of testing motivated worldview defense (Niedbala & Hohman, 2019; van den Bos, 2009). Participants assigned to the *uncertainty* condition wrote about "three to five things [they] are most uncertain about" and to "describe in detail the one situation that has made [them] the most uncertain [they] have been in [their] life." We strengthened the manipulation by asking participants to "describe the specific emotions that the thought of [their] being uncertain generally arouses in [them]." Participants in the *certainty* condition wrote the same three essays but about situations and emotions that made them feel the most certain. The only difference between the two conditions was the use of the word certain or uncertain. Participants in the control condition wrote about "two modes of transportation that [they] have used in [their] life" and described "in detail how [they] could use one of these modes of transportation to get from one place to another (e.g., to get from school to the grocery store)."

After the experimental manipulation, participants sat at a table setting (contained within a private experimental cubicle) designed to look like a restaurant—including a placemat, a red and white gingham patterned tablecloth, a rolled set of utensils, a small

decorative flower, and salt and pepper shakers. Participants then selected a meal from one of three available (fake) menus. Menus were, by design, as similar as possible for the present purpose (e.g., they contained approximately the same number of possible calories). All participants received a \$20 experimental budget, which could buy them at least an appetizer, a main dish, and a drink on all the menus. A research assistant, acting in the role of a professional server, recorded participants' orders on a handheld order book, recreating the experience of ordering food in a restaurant. Participants then returned to the survey where they reported their feelings of uncertainty and received an opportunity to learn the number of calories in the meal they selected. Those who did not avoid their calorie feedback then learned the number of calories in their meal and indicated their agreement with the accuracy of this number. All study procedures were approved by the university's ethical review board.

Manipulation Check

We measured the relative success of each experimental manipulation (uncertainty and certainty) by adding one item to the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). Specifically, participants responded to the statement: "Indicate to what extent you feel this way right now, in the present moment - uncertain" (1 = very slightly or not at all, 5 = extremely; M = 2.66, SD = 1.30).

Information Avoidance Decision

Like Studies 1, 2, and 3, participants responded to the statement, "Do you want to know how many calories were actually in the meal you chose?" by choosing between "Yes, please tell me how many calories were actually in the meal I chose" (69.14%) or "No, I do not" (30.86%). Unlike Studies 1, 2, and 3, there was no default response option.

Feedback Derogation

We measured feedback derogation using a single item. Participants indicated their agreement with the statement "My calorie feedback is accurate." Unlike previous studies, lower scores indicate greater feedback derogation ($1 = strongly \ disagree$, $7 = strongly \ agree$; M = 4.10, SD = 2.00).

Data Analysis

To evaluate the fidelity of our experimental manipulation, we examined differences in self-reported uncertainty between each experimental condition and the control condition. To examine the effect of condition on the odds of deciding to avoid, we used two chi-square tests in RStudio using the base R stats package (version 2022.02.3+492), comparing the percentage of avoidance in each experimental condition to the control condition. We then examined differences in feedback derogation between each experimental condition and the control condition (separately) using two independent sample t-tests. Differences in feedback derogation were, like previous studies, examined for those who received feedback.

Results

Manipulation Check

Participants assigned to the uncertainty condition reported feeling significantly more uncertain (M = 2.92, SD = 1.28) than did participants assigned to the control condition (M = 2.36, SD = 1.26), $M_{\text{difference}} = -0.56$, $CI_{95\%} = [-0.96, -0.16]$, t(155) = -2.75, p < .01, d = .44, $CI_{95\%} = [0.12, 0.76]$. Unexpectedly, participants assigned to the certainty condition did not report feeling significantly less uncertain (M = 2.54, SD = 1.24) than

participants assigned to the control condition (M = 2.36, SD = 1.26), $M_{\text{difference}} = -0.19$, $CI_{95\%} = [-0.58, 0.21]$, t(156) = -0.93, p = .36, d = .15, $CI_{95\%} = [-0.16, 0.46]$.

Avoidance of Calorie Information

Participants in the *uncertainty* condition avoided the calorie information of their menu selection significantly less often (22.62%) than did those in the *control* condition (37.84%), OR = 0.48, CI_{95%} = [0.24, 0.96], x^2 (1, 158) = 4.36, p = .04, φ = -.17, CI_{95%} = [-0.31, 0.01]. Consistent with evidence that the certainty manipulation was not successful, there was no difference in the rate at which participants avoided the calorie information of their menu selection between the *certainty* condition (32.94%) and control condition (37.84%), OR = 0.81, CI_{95%} = [0.42, 1.55], x^2 (1, 159) = 0.42, p = .52, φ = -0.05, CI_{95%} = [-0.31, 0.01].

Feedback Derogation

Participants made to feel uncertain about themselves rated their feedback as more accurate (M = 4.42, SD = 2.05) than did participants in the control condition (M = 3.59, SD = 2.04), $M_{\rm difference} = -0.83$, $CI_{95\%} = [-1.61, -0.50]$, t(109) = -2.11, p = .04, d = -.41, $CI_{95\%} = [-0.79, -0.02]$. And, consistent with evidence that the certainty manipulation was not successful, feedback derogation did not differ significantly between the certainty (M = 4.14, SD = 1.87) and control conditions (M = 3.59, SD = 2.04), $M_{\rm difference} = -0.55$, $CI_{95\%} = [-1.32, 0.21]$, t(101) = -1.44, p = .15, d = .29, $CI_{95\%} = [-0.10, 0.68]$.

Study 4 Discussion

Study 4 suggests that participants who experienced uncertainty avoided calorie information less and derogated their feedback less than those in the control condition. We did not observe the opposite effect as hypothesized in the certainty condition, which is not surprising insofar as the certainty manipulation did not work.

General Discussion

The present research tested the idea that information avoidance is part of a larger system of psychological self-protection. Study 1, which included two exploratory samples, and Study 2, a high-powered confirmatory sample, examined participants responses to health-risk-test feedback across several health conditions (e.g., heart disease, skin cancer, diabetes) and provided correlational evidence for a relationship between the predisposition to avoid information and increased derogation of health risk feedback. Those who were predisposed to avoid information, but did not decide to avoid their risk feedback, were more likely to reactively self-protect by derogating the feedback they received. Study 3, aimed to rule out two alternative explanations for Studies 1 and 2: (1) self-selection bias and (2) the variance in the severity of feedback. This study replicated and extended the effects of Study 1 using a risk test that ostensibly measured a person's risk of spreading COVID-19 to other people. As expected, participants were more likely to derogate their health risk feedback to the extent that they reported a greater predisposition to avoid health information, and, importantly, the magnitude of this effect did not depend on whether participants had a choice to avoid information.

Study 4 experimentally examined the effect of manipulations of certainty and uncertainty on avoidance and feedback derogation: Feeling uncertain should reduce the need to self-protect and increase motivation to reduce uncertainty by seeking and accepting objective, self-relevant information; feeling certain should increase the need to self-protect and decrease the motivation to seek and accept objective, self-relevant information (Brouwers & Sorrentino, 1993; Hogg et al., 2007; Leonardelli & Lakin, 2010). Study 4's uncertainty manipulation provided strong support for our hypothesis by extending the results from Studies 1, 2, and 3 into a situation that should diminish the need to self-protect. That is, in an experimental procedure where people ordered food from a menu and then received the opportunity to learn the calories contained in the meal they ordered, those made to feel uncertain, compared to those in the control condition, were less likely to decide to avoid and less likely to derogate feedback. This evidence suggests that both behaviors are likely driven by a related system of psychological selfprotection. Contrary to expectations, the certainty manipulation did not decrease uncertainty (i.e., increase certainty) and did not affect the relevant outcomes. Two important reasons exist that might explain why we did not observe the expected effects in the certainty condition. First, the absence of a significant difference could be attributed to the measurement of *uncertainty*, rather than *certainty*, as a manipulation check. Still, the fact that we did not observe differences between the certainty and control conditions on any of our outcomes suggests that the observation was more than simply failure of the manipulation check, particularly because the absence of a true effect would contradict established theory and recent experimental evidence.

The certainty manipulation may have elicited feelings of uncertainty for some and certainty for others. Specifically, the difficulty of Study 4's experimental task might have inadvertently increased uncertainty for some by asking participants to write about three to five things in their life that they feel certain about, and to describe a situation in their life when they have felt the most certain. Research has demonstrated that when people are asked to consider personal examples that demonstrate a trait (e.g., their egalitarian behaviors), they become less convinced of their success in that domain to the extent that

recalling such examples is difficult (Guerrettaz & Arkin, 2015; Howell et al., 2013; Schwarz et al., 1991). Previously published studies using this procedure asked participants to list three examples of events or memories when they felt (un)certain, however, in the present study, participants were asked to list between three and five examples. This seemingly minor alteration of the procedure could lead to greater uncertainty: Some participants may have felt pressure to produce five, rather than three, examples; in turn, this difficult may have led some participants to feel uncertain about themselves if they were unable to generate five examples. Indeed, increasing the number of examples requested is the procedure used to increase uncertainty (Guerrettaz & Arkin, 2015). Future research will need to test whether prompting certainty will increase the propensity to self-protect by avoiding information, and further demonstrating that this behavior substitutes for other mechanisms of self-protection.

Taken together across 4 studies, these results suggest that information avoidance is part of a boarder system of self-protection that is associated with other self-protective strategies. It also suggests that merely getting people to choose to receive information—thus overriding a dispositional tendency to avoid it—is not always enough to make them receptive to that information unless one targets the broader system of self-protection.

Theoretical and Practical Implications

The present research extends theoretical perspectives on information behavior and psychological self-protection in at least three ways. First, the present work elaborates theoretical perspectives that explain how people use mechanisms of self-protection to construct and maintain important self-views. Specifically, it builds on previous work that introduced information avoidance as a potential proactive mechanism by which people engage in self-protection (Howell et al., 2013, 2019). In so doing, it demonstrates a synergistic relationship between proactive avoidance and reactive defensiveness (Study 1, 2, and 3) and, furthermore, that situations, like those that make people feel uncertain, which should disarm defensive strategies, disarm both active avoidance and feedback derogation (Study 4). Prior tests of the substitution principle demonstrate the substitutability of strategies that people use after they have encountered a threat, like selfaffirmation or social comparisons, essentially comparing the effect of two reactive mechanisms of self-protection and demonstrating that an increase in one strategy is associated with a decrease in another strategy (Crawford, 2007; Tesser, 2000). In contrast, information avoidance serves a self-protective function before the anticipated threat occurs, opening the possibility of future investigations into other forms of proactive-reactive self-protection-mechanism interchangeability that specifically examine mediating mechanisms like restoration of self-worth or self-complexity.

Second, by considering the proposition that the predisposition to avoid represents a defensive orientation towards self-relevant information, the present work establishes the prior disposition to avoid as an important individual difference variable that explains defensive responding to information more broadly. People who are predisposed to avoid information about their health appear to replace the decision to avoid with feedback derogation as an alternative strategy. When initially establishing the information avoidance scale, the authors proposed that a primary purpose of the scale would be to "identify people who are less responsive to situational factors shown to dimmish information avoidance" (Howell & Shepperd, 2016, p. 1). The present work demonstrates

that the predisposition to avoid information, as measured, not only identifies those who are resistant to factors that reduce the decision to avoid, but also identifies those who are motivationally resistant to information altogether.

The relationship between the predisposition to avoid and derogation of feedback is perhaps surprising, given that wanting to know information and thinking that information is inaccurate, misleading, or pointless semantically represent contrasting cognitions. However, when one considers the idea that these two strategies are part of a connected self-system, their yoked relationship makes sense. Indeed, we demonstrated that this relationship remains after controlling for potential confounds like the relative severity of risk feedback and type of health information. This suggests that for some it is not necessarily the content of the information itself, but likely a broader defensive orientation towards self-relevant health information that drives both avoidance and reactive defensiveness like feedback derogation.

Finally, the present research is important to interventions designed to increase acceptance of health risk information. Theories that predict defensive processing of health information propose that specific defense mechanisms are used at different stages of information processing (McQueen et al., 2013). People can avoid information in the early stages or deploy a variety of defenses once they are exposed to the information. Importantly, the present work demonstrates that the need to self-protect is not diminished simply by advancing beyond the stage of avoiding exposure. Specifically, the present work demonstrates that the resistance formed by the need to self-protect may persist as people move from one stage to the next. Taken together with previous work demonstrating that people avoid information that threatens important self-views (Howell et al., 2013, 2019), the present work emphasizes the importance of targeting and reducing tension in the self-system to prevent all defensive obstacles, rather than simply trying to promote learning information.

Limitations and Future Directions

The present work is limited in several ways that can be addressed in future research, including a restricted application to avoidance of health information in the context of real diseases. Despite the gains in external and ecological validity, the variability associated with using risk tests for real disease threats introduced variance that we cannot control for in the same way as an alternative experimental control, like a fictitious disease. For example, in the present work, Study 3 used a fictitious risk test for a real health threat (spreading COVID-19 to others). Presumably, our participants arrived at the study aware of other sources of information in addition to their own a priori beliefs about their risk for spreading COVID-19 to others and factors that contribute to this risk. Also, several of the risk tests we used determine a person's relative lifetime risk for diseases where more objective, personalized, and diagnostic tests are available. Indeed, one criticism of the prediabetes risk test designed and made available by the Centers for Disease Control (https://www.cdc.gov/prediabetes/takethetest/), used in Study 2, is that the test is designed to overstate an individual's risk, particularly in older adults, as an appeal to prediabetes prevention (Lam & Lee, 2021). Alternative experimental paradigms may complement the present work by using fictitious tests and feedback (e.g., attractiveness) where no truly objective alternative exists. Future research will need to

expand beyond real disease threats to extend the present work beyond the health domain and rule out potential confounds associated with risk tests for real disease threats.

Our ability to draw broad theoretical conclusions is also limited by a reliance on feedback derogation to measure reactive defensiveness. Specifically, we do not know the extent to which participants who did not decide to avoid had proactively discredited the feedback before making their decision to receive or avoid their risk feedback. Some participants may have filled out the risk test inaccurately or may have believed previously that their risk cannot be computed accurately without speaking with a doctor. Study 4, which does not rely on a risk assessment, circumvented this limitation by directly computing calorie feedback from participants menu selection, and continued to demonstrate the expected effect. But in Studies 1, 2, and 3, the items used to assess risk are relatively transparent: Participants assigned to complete the risk test for melanoma skin cancer, for example, indicated "Yes," or "No," when asked if they had ever used a tanning bed or wear sunscreen. A participant might proactively self-protect by dishonestly reporting their behavior (akin to self-handicapping; Tice, 1991), in which case the feedback they received would be inaccurate. Still, derogation and denial of health information are well-established defensive responses (Hall et al., 2017; Jessop et al., 2009; McQueen et al., 2013; Ruiter et al., 2003; Wiebe & Korbel, 2003) and, as a dependent variable, allowed a strong test of our hypothesis: If a person responded dishonestly to protect their self-view and receive desirable feedback, then there is no reason, other than not trusting the scientific enterprise, that they would see their feedback as misleading or manipulative.

And, more importantly, this alternative explanation does not contradict the idea that information avoidance serves a self-protective function, but, instead, the possible presence of an alternative proactive mechanism of self-protection. To firmly establish information avoidance as a mechanism of self-protection, future work will need to conceptually replicate a relationship between information avoidance and other proactive and reactive defensive processes, like downward social comparisons (Wills, 1981), self-enhancing dimensional comparisons (Edmonds & Rose, 2022), or selective memory (Croyle et al., 2006) and relate them back to other trait-like measures of defensiveness, like defensive confidence (Albarracín & Mitchell, 2004).

The present research did not examine potential mediating mechanisms, like self-worth or self-complexity, that are theorized to attenuate the need to self-protect (Critcher & Dunning, 2015). Specifically, the substitution principle predicts that, in response to a self-threat, a given mechanism of self-protection (e.g., self-affirmation) may be used to maintain self-evaluative positivity, and that the effect of this mechanism on global self-worth is equivalent to the effect of another mechanism (e.g., downward social comparison) on global self-worth—each mechanism returns the threatened self-concept to a prior state (Tesser et al., 1996). For example, a person who decides to avoid has theoretically maintained self-integrity, or psychological homeostasis (Sedikides, 2021), that could have suffered if they were unable to avoid; the effect of the decision to avoid on self-integrity (or global self-worth) would be equivalent to the effect of derogation or downward social comparisons—in each situation the need to self-protect has been satisfied and self-worth is restored to the same pre-exisiting level.

In the present work, we did not measure self-esteem or self-worth because of the possibility that self-worth might be restored in the process of measuring it (Critcher & Dunning, 2015; Steele et al., 1993). Instead, the present work relies on previous work demonstrating the role of derogation in neutralizing self-threats (Niedbala & Hohman, 2019; see Sedikides, 2012 for a review; Shepperd, 1993; Thompson et al., 2011) and self-(un)certainty in arming or disarming self-protection strivings (Brouwers & Sorrentino, 1993; DeMarree et al., 2007; Hohman & Hogg, 2015; Leonardelli & Lakin, 2010; Morrison & Johnson, 2011; Ng et al., 2022; Oettingen et al., 2022; van den Bos, 2009). Indeed, if information avoidance does not serve a self-protective function, then we would not have seen a relationship with feedback derogation, because there would be no need to make the feedback feel unimportant or meaningless.

Moreover, it remains theoretically and empirically unclear what mechanism should mediate the relationship between self-view threat and each specific mechanism of self-protection: It could be self-worth (Tesser et al., 1996), affect (Sedikides, 2021), self-complexity (Critcher & Dunning, 2015), goal tension (Gollwitzer et al., 2013; Lewin et al., 1936), changes in cognition (Wakslak & Trope, 2009), emotion regulation (Witte, 1994), or some other psychological resource. Are *self-handicapping* and *deciding to avoid information* and *self-affirmation* and *derogation* and *self-serving attributions* all truly redundant, and, irrespective of domain, able to maintain or restore an equivalent level of self-concept complexity (or an alternative self-resource)? Continuing to assume that each mechanism has an equivalent effect might prevent researchers from identifying situations when each mechanism is adaptive (or not), the specific self-resources that are implicated in that situation, and the relative contribution to changes in how people think, feel, and behave.

Information avoidance, as a proactive mechanism of self-protection, will allow more rigorous theoretical tests to examine the role of specific mediators and their boundary conditions. For example, in the context of information avoidance, it remains unclear whether people who decide to avoid are doing so because they do not think that they will be able to disengage from or otherwise neutralize the threat and people who do not decide to avoid feel that they can effectively neutralize the threat. The present research lays the foundation for this future work because it establishes that self-protection is happening in both instances: Information avoidance, as a proactive mechanism of self-protection, is replaced with feedback derogation, as a reactive mechanism of self-protection and further that people avoid information less in situations that reduce self-protection strivings (uncertainty, autonomy support).

Conclusion

In summary, four studies demonstrated a link between information avoidance and feedback derogation, offering initial evidence that information avoidance is part of a broader system of self-protection. Studies 1-3 provided correlational evidence that the predisposition to avoid health information is related to derogating feedback after it is received. Importantly, Study 3 ruled out the effect of self-selection and the content of feedback as alternative explanations. We interpret these studies to suggest that people who want to defensively avoid information, but decide not to, will turn to other self-protective strategies when faced with feedback (of any kind). Finally, Study 4 demonstrated a situation that should reduce defensiveness toward health information

generally—self-uncertainty—reduced both avoidance and derogation. In future work, researchers can explore the extent to which information avoidance is substitutable with other forms of defensiveness and further examine the role of important individual difference variables like information avoidance in theoretical models that predict how people respond to bad news about their health.

References

- Albarracín, D., & Mitchell, A. L. (2004). The role of defensive confidence in preference for proattitudinal information: How believing that one is strong can sometimes be a defensive weakness. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 30(12), 1565–1584. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167204271180
- Alicke, M. D., & Sedikides, C. (2009). Self-enhancement and self-protection: What they are and what they do. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 20, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/10463280802613866
- Alicke, M. D., Sedikides, C., & Zhang, Y. (2020). The motivation to maintain favorable identities. *Self and Identity*, 19(5), 572–589. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2019.1640786
- Arndt, J., Schimel, J., Greenberg, J., & Pyszczynski, T. (2002). The intrinsic self and defensiveness: Evidence that activating the intrinsic self reduces self-handicapping and conformity. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 28(5), 671–683. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167202288011
- Baack, B. N. (2021). COVID-19 vaccination coverage and intent among adults aged 18–39 years—United States, March–May 2021. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 70. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7025e2
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67, 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Baumeister, R. F., Dale, K., & Sommer, K. L. (1998). Freudian defense mechanisms and empirical findings in modern social psychology: Reaction formation, projection, displacement, undoing, isolation, sublimation, and denial. *Journal of Personality*, 66(6), 1081–1124. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.00043
- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *117*(3), 497–529. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Blajer-Go\lebiewska, A., Wach, D., & Kos, M. (2018). Financial risk information avoidance. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 31(1), 521–536. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2018.1439396
- Blondé, J., Easterbrook, M. J., Harris, P. R., Girandola, F., & Khalafian, A. (2022). Taking advantage of multiple identities to reduce defensiveness to personally threatening health messages. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/aphw.12355
- Briñol, P., Petty, R. E., & Wheeler, S. C. (2006). Discrepancies between explicit and implicit self-concepts: Consequences for information processing. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *91*(1), 154. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.91.1.154
- Brouwers, M. C., & Sorrentino, R. M. (1993). Uncertainty orientation and protection motivation theory: The role of individual differences in health compliance. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 65(1), 102–112. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.65.1.102

- Crawford, M. T. (2007). The renegotiation of social identities in response to a threat to self-evaluation maintenance. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 43(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2005.12.011
- Critcher, C. R., & Dunning, D. (2015). Self-affirmations provide a broader perspective on self-threat. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 41(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167214554956
- Critcher, C. R., Dunning, D., & Armor, D. A. (2010). When self-affirmations reduce defensiveness: Timing is key. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 36(7), 947–959. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167210369557
- Croyle, R. T., Loftus, E. F., Barger, S. D., Sun, Y.-C., Hart, M., & Gettig, J. (2006). How well do people recall risk factor test results? Accuracy and bias among cholesterol screening participants. *Health Psychology*, 25(3), 425–432. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.25.3.425
- de Hoog, N., Stroebe, W., & de Wit, J. B. F. (2007). The Impact of Vulnerability to and Severity of a Health Risk on Processing and Acceptance of Fear-Arousing Communications: A Meta-Analysis. *Review of General Psychology*, 11(3), 258–285. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.11.3.258
- DeMarree, K. G., Petty, R. E., & Briñol, P. (2007). Self-certainty: Parallels to attitude certainty. *International Journal of Psychology and Psychological Therapy*, 7(2), 159–188.
- Deng, S. L., Nolte, J., & Löckenhoff, C. E. (2022). Information avoidance in consumer choice: Do avoidance tendencies and motives vary by age? *Experimental Aging Research*, 0(0), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073X.2022.2051967
- Dwyer, L. A., Shepperd, J. A., & Stock, M. L. (2015). Predicting avoidance of skin damage feedback among college students. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 49(5), 685–695. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-015-9703-6
- Edmonds, K. A., & Rose, J. P. (2022). Exploring the impact of dimensional comparisons in health contexts. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12669
- Elliot, A. J., & Church, M. A. (2003). A motivational analysis of defensive pessimism and self-handicapping. *Journal of Personality*, 71(3), 369–396. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.7103005
- Emanuel, A. S., Kiviniemi, M. T., Howell, J. L., Hay, J. L., Waters, E. A., Orom, H., & Shepperd, J. A. (2015). Avoiding cancer risk information. *Social Science & Medicine*, 147, 113–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.10.058
- Ferrer, R. A., Taber, J. M., Klein, W. M., Harris, P. R., Lewis, K. L., & Biesecker, L. G. (2014). The role of current affect, anticipated affect and spontaneous self-affirmation in decisions to receive self-threatening genetic risk information. *Cognition and Emotion*, 29(ahead-of-print), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2014.985188
- Fischer, P., Jonas, E., Frey, D., & Schulz-Hardt, S. (2005). Selective exposure to information: The impact of information limits. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, *35*(4), 469–492. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.264
- Gibbons, F. X., Gerrard, M., & Pomery, E. A. (2004). Risk and Reactance: Applying Social-Psychological Theory to the Study of Health Behavior. In R. A. Wright, J. Greenberg,

- & S. S. Brehm (Eds.), *Motivational analyses of social behavior: Building on Jack Brehm's contributions to psychology*. (pp. 149–166). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Gibson, B. (2007). The role of individual differences in sandbagging on selective avoidance of self-evaluative information. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 41(2), 481–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2006.04.006
- Goldenberg, J. L., & Arndt, J. (2008). The implications of death for health: A terror management health model for behavioral health promotion. *Psychological Review*, 115(4), 1032–1053. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013326
- Gollwitzer, P. M., Marquardt, M. K., Scherer, M., & Fujita, K. (2013). Identity-goal threats: Engaging in distinct compensatory efforts. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 4(5), 555–562. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550612471143
- Guerrettaz, J., & Arkin, R. M. (2015). Who am I? How asking the question changes the answer. *Self and Identity*, *14*(1), 90–103. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2014.955049
- Hall, M., Sheeran, P., Noar, S., Ribisl, K., Boynton, M., & Brewer, N. (2017). A brief measure of reactance to health warnings. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 40. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-016-9821-z
- Harris, P. R., & Epton, T. (2009). The impact of self-affirmation on health cognition, health behaviour and other health-related responses: A narrative review. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *3*(6), 962–978. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2009.00233.x
- Hogg, M. A., Sherman, D. K., Dierselhuis, J., Maitner, A. T., & Moffitt, G. (2007). Uncertainty, entitativity, and group identification. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 43(1), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2005.12.008
- Hohman, Z. P., & Hogg, M. A. (2015). Fearing the uncertain: Self-uncertainty plays a role in mortality salience. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *57*, 31–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2014.11.007
- Howell, J. L., Collisson, B., Crysel, L., Garrido, C. O., Newell, S. M., Cottrell, C. A., Smith, C. T., & Shepperd, J. A. (2013). Managing the threat of impending implicit attitude feedback. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 4(6), 714–720. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550613479803
- Howell, J. L., Crosier, B. S., & Shepperd, J. A. (2014). Does lacking threat-management resources increase information avoidance? A multi-sample, multi-method investigation. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *50*, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2014.03.003
- Howell, J. L., Gaither, S. E., & Ratliff, K. A. (2015). Caught in the middle: Defensive responses to IAT feedback among Whites, Blacks, and Biracial Black/Whites. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, 6(4), 373–381. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550614561127
- Howell, J. L., Lipsey, N. P., & Shepperd, J. A. . (2020). Health Information Avoidance. In K. Sweeny, M. L. Robbins, & L. M. Cohen (Eds.), *The Wiley Encyclopedia of Health Psychology* (pp. 279–286). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119057840.ch77

- Howell, J. L., Ratliff, K. A., & Shepperd, J. A. (2016). Automatic attitudes and health information avoidance. *Health Psychology*, *35*(8), 816–823. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000330
- Howell, J. L., & Shepperd, J. A. (2012). Reducing information avoidance through affirmation. *Psychological Science*, *23*(2), 141–145. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797611424164
- Howell, J. L., & Shepperd, J. A. (2016). Establishing an information avoidance scale. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(12), 1695–1708. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000315
- Howell, J. L., & Shepperd, J. A. (2017). Social exclusion, self-affirmation, and health information avoidance. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 68, 21–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2016.05.005
- Howell, J. L., Sweeny, K., Miller, W., & Shepperd, J. A. (2019). Hot or not? How self-view threat influences avoidance of attractiveness feedback. *Self and Identity*, 18(2), 144–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2017.1401552
- Hussain, M., Price, D. M., Gesselman, A. N., Shepperd, J. A., & Howell, J. L. (2021). Avoiding information about one's romantic partner. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 38(2), 626–647. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407520969856
- Jessop, D. C., Simmonds, L. V., & Sparks, P. (2009). Motivational and behavioural consequences of self-affirmation interventions: A study of sunscreen use among women. *Psychology & Health*, *24*(5), 529–544. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870440801930320
- Karlsson, N., Loewenstein, G., & Seppi, D. (2009). The ostrich effect: Selective attention to information. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty*, 38(2), 95–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11166-009-9060-6
- Kim, S. (2015). ppcor: An R package for a fast calculation to semi-partial correlation coefficients. *Communications for Statistical Applications and Methods*, 22(6), 665–674. https://doi.org/10.5351/CSAM.2015.22.6.665
- Klein, W. M. P., Blier, H. K., & Janze, A. M. (2001). Maintaining positive self-evaluations: Reducing attention to diagnostic but unfavorable social comparison information when general self-regard is salient. *Motivation and Emotion*, *25*(1), 23–40. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010607821908
- Koster, E. H. W., Crombez, G., Verschuere, B., & De Houwer, J. (2004). Selective attention to threat in the dot probe paradigm: Differentiating vigilance and difficulty to disengage. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *42*(10), 1183–1192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2003.08.001
- Kunda, Z. (1987). Motivated inference: Self-serving generation and evaluation of causal theories. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *53*(4), 636–647. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.53.4.636
- Lakens, D. (2021). Sample size justification. In *PsyArXiv*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/9d3yf
- Lam, K., & Lee, S. J. (2021). Prediabetes—A risk factor twice removed. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 181(4), 520–521. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.8773

- Leary, M. R., Tchividijian, L. R., & Kraxberger, B. E. (1994). Self-presentation can be hazardous to your health: Impression management and health risk. *Health Psychology*, *13*(6), 461–470. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.13.6.461
- Leonardelli, G. J., & Lakin, J. L. (2010). The new adventures of regulatory focus: Self-uncertainty and the quest for a diagnostic self-evaluation. In K. C. Oleson, P. J. Carroll, & R. M. Arkin (Eds.), *Handbook of the uncertain self* (pp. 249–263). Taylor & Francis.
- Lewin, K., Heider, F., & Heider, G. M. (1936). *Principles of topological psychology*. McGraw-Hill; WorldCat.org. https://doi.org/10.1037/10019-000
- Lipkus, I. M., Johnson, C. M., Amarasekara, S., Pan, W., & Updegraff, J. A. (2018). Reactions to online colorectal cancer risk estimates among a nationally representative sample of adults who have never been screened. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 41(3), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-017-9902-7
- Losee, J. E., Shepperd, J. A., & Webster, G. D. (2020). Financial resources and decisions to avoid information about environmental perils. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 50(3), 174–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12648
- Maloney, E. K., Lapinski, M. K., & Witte, K. (2011). Fear appeals and persuasion: A review and update of the Extended Parallel Process Model. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *5*(4), 206–219. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2011.00341.x
- McQueen, A., Swank, P. R., & Vernon, S. W. (2014). Examining patterns of association with defensive information processing about colorectal cancer screening. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 19(11), 1443–1458. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105313493649
- McQueen, A., Vernon, S. W., & Swank, P. R. (2013). Construct definition and scale development for defensive information processing: An application to colorectal cancer screening. *Health Psychology*, *32*(2), 190–202. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027311
- Miller, A., & Ibsen, H. (1951). An enemy of the people. Penguin Classics.
- Morrison, K. R., & Johnson, C. S. (2011). When what you have is who you are: Self-uncertainty leads individualists to see themselves in their possessions. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *37*(5), 639–651. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167211403158
- Nanton, V., Munday, D., Dale, J., Mason, B., Kendall, M., & Murray, S. (2016). The threatened self: Considerations of time, place, and uncertainty in advanced illness. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *21*(2), 351–373. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjhp.12172
- Ng, W. J. R., Bu, C., & See, Y. H. M. (2022). Defensive confidence and certainty in unchanged attitudes: The role of affect—cognition matching. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 01461672221074102. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672221074102
- Niedbala, E. M., & Hohman, Z. P. (2019). Retaliation against the outgroup: The role of self-uncertainty. *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, 22(5), 708–723. https://doi.org/10.1177/1368430218767027

- Oettingen, G., Gollwitzer, A., Jung, J., & Irmak Olcaysoy Okten. (2022). Misplaced certainty in the context of conspiracy theories. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 101393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2022.101393
- Our World in Data. (n.d.). *Total COVID-19 vaccine doses administered*. Our World in Data. Retrieved June 3, 2022, from https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/cumulative-covid-vaccinations
- Peugh, J. L. (2010). A practical guide to multilevel modeling. *Journal of School Psychology*, 48(1), 85–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2009.092
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rabin, R. C., Mandavilli, A., & Hubler, S. (2021, June 29). Masks Again? Delta Variant's Spread Prompts Reconsideration of Precautions. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/06/29/health/coronavirus-delta-variant-masks.html
- Rankin, K., & Sweeny, K. (2021). Preparing silver linings for a cloudy day: The consequences of preemptive benefit finding. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 01461672211037863. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672211037863
- Reed, M. B., & Aspinwall, L. G. (1998). Self-affirmation reduces biased processing of health-risk information. *Motivation and Emotion*, 22(2), 99–132. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021463221281
- Revelle, W. (2022). psych: Procedures for Psychological, Psychometric, and Personality Research (2.2.3) [R]. Northwestern University. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=psych
- Ruiter, R. A. C., Verplanken, B., Kok, G., & Werrij, M. Q. (2003). The role of coping appraisal in reactions to fear appeals: Do we need threat information? *Journal of Health Psychology*, 8(4), 465–474. https://doi.org/10.1177/13591053030084006
- Schwarz, N., Bless, H., Strack, F., Klumpp, G., Rittenauer-Schatka, H., & Simons, A. (1991). Ease of retrieval as information: Another look at the availability heuristic. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 61(2), 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.2.195
- Sedikides, C. (2012). Self-protection. In M. R. Leary & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Handbook of Self and Identity* (2nd ed., pp. 327–353). Guilford Publications.
- Sedikides, C. (2021). Self-construction, self-protection, and self-enhancement: A homeostatic model of identity protection. *Psychological Inquiry*, *32*(4), 197–221. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047840X.2021.2004812
- Sedikides, C., & Gregg, A. P. (2008). Self-enhancement: Food for thought. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *3*(2), 102–116. psyh. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2008.00068.x
- Shepperd, J. A. (1993). Student derogation of the Scholastic Aptitude Test: Biases in perceptions and presentations of College Board scores. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *14*(4), 455–473. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324834basp1404_5
- Sherman, D. A. K., Nelson, L. D., & Steele, C. M. (2000). Do messages about health risks threaten the self? Increasing the acceptance of threatening health messages via self-affirmation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *26*(9), 1046–1058. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672002611003

- Sherman, D. K., & Cohen, G. L. (2006). The psychology of self-defense: Self-affirmation theory. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, *38*, 183–242.
- Siteman Cancer Institute. (2021). *Your Disease Risk—Prevention*. Siteman Cancer Center. https://siteman.wustl.edu/prevention/ydr/
- Smith, M., Heyward, G., & Kasakove, S. (2021, June 28). Why Young Adults Are Among the Biggest Barriers to Mass Immunity. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/06/28/us/covid-vaccine-immunity.html
- Steele, C. M. (1988). The psychology of self-affirmation: Sustaining the integrity of the self. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 21, 261–302.
- Steele, C. M., & Liu, T. J. (1983). Dissonance processes as self-affirmation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45(1), 5–19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.45.1.5
- Steele, C. M., Spencer, S. J., & Lynch, M. (1993). Self-image resilience and dissonance: The role of affirmational resources. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64(6), 885–896. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.64.6.885
- Swann, W. B., & Schroeder, D. G. (1995). The search for beauty and truth: A framework for understanding reactions to evaluations. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(12), 1307–1318. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672952112008
- Sweeney, A. M., & Moyer, A. (2020). Self-affirmation and responses to health messages. In *The Wiley Encyclopedia of Health Psychology* (pp. 45–56). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119057840.ch138
- Sweeny, K., Melnyk, D., Miller, W., & Shepperd, J. A. (2010). Information avoidance: Who, what, when, and why. *Review of General Psychology*, *14*(4), 340–353. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021288
- Sweeny, K., & Miller, W. (2012). Predictors of information avoidance: When does ignorance seem most blissful? *Self and Identity*, *11*(2), 185–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2010.520902
- Taber, J. M., Klein, W. M. P., Ferrer, R. A., Lewis, K. L., Harris, P. R., Shepperd, J. A., & Biesecker, L. G. (2015). Information avoidance tendencies, threat management resources, and interest in genetic sequencing feedback. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 49(4), 616–621. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-014-9679-7
- Taylor, K. M., & Shepperd, J. A. (1998). Bracing for the worst: Severity, testing, and feedback timing as moderators of the optimistic bias. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *24*(9), 915–926. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167298249001
- Taylor, S. E., & Brown, J. D. (1988). Illusion and well-being: A social psychological perspective on mental health. *Psychological Bulletin*, 103(2), 193–210.
- Tesser, A. (2000). On the confluence of self-esteem maintenance mechanisms. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 4(4), 290–299. https://doi.org/Doi 10.1207/S15327957pspr0404 1
- Tesser, A. (2001). On the plasticity of self-defense. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 10(2), 66–69. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00117
- Tesser, A., Crepaz, N., Collins, J. C., Cornell, D., & Beach, S. R. H. (2000). Confluence of self-esteem regulation mechanisms: On integrating the self-zoo. *Personality and*

- *Social Psychology Bulletin*, *26*(12), 1476–1489. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672002612003
- Tesser, A., Martin, L. L., & Cornell, D. P. (1996). On the substitutability of self-protective mechanisms. In P. M. Gollwitzer & J. A. Bargh (Eds.), *The psychology of action: Linking cognition and motivation to behavior* (pp. 48–68). The Guilford Press.
- Thompson, S. C., Robbins, T., Payne, R., & Castillo, C. (2011). Message derogation and self-distancing denial: Situational and dispositional influences on the use of denial to protect against a threatening message. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 41(12), 2816–2836. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2011.00855.x
- Tice, D. M. (1991). Esteem protection or enhancement? Self-handicapping motives and attributions differ by trait self-esteem. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 60(5), 711–725. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.60.5.711
- Times, T. N. Y. (2020, March 3). Coronavirus in the U.S.: Latest Map and Case Count. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2021/us/covid-cases.html
- van den Bos, K. (2009). On the psychology of the uncertain self and the integration of the worldview defense zoo. *Psychological Inquiry*, 20(4), 252–261. https://doi.org/10.1080/10478400903448532
- Wakslak, C. J., & Trope, Y. (2009). Cognitive consequences of affirming the self: The relationship between self-affirmation and object construal. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 45(4), 927–932. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2009.05.002
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: The PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *54*(6), 1063–1070. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Webb, T. L., Chang, B. P. I., & Benn, Y. (2013). 'The ostrich problem': Motivated avoidance or rejection of information about goal progress. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 7(11), 794–807. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12071
- Wiebe, D., & Korbel, C. (2003). Defensive denial, affect, and the self-regulation of health threats. In L. D. Cameron & H. Leventhal (Eds.), *The Self-Regulation of Health and Illness Behaviour*. Taylor & Francis.
- Wills, T. A. (1981). Downward comparison principles in social psychology. *Psychological Bulletin*, 90(2), 245. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.90.2.245
- Witte, K. (1994). Fear control and danger control: A test of the extended parallel process model (EPPM). *Communication Monographs*, 61(2), 113–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/03637759409376328
- Witte, K., & Allen, M. (2000). A Meta-Analysis of Fear Appeals: Implications for Effective Public Health Campaigns. *Health Education & Behavior*, 27(5), 591–615. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019810002700506

Tables

Table 1

Table of measures

| Measure | Items | Scale | M | SD | α | λ_6 |
|--|-----------------|---|------|------|------|-------------|
| | Study | / 1a Heart-Disease | | | | |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (general) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 2.91 | 1.55 | 0.92 | 0.97 |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (heart disease) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 2.70 | 1.52 | 0.91 | 0.97 |
| Feedback Valence | - | 1 = significantly lower, 9 = significantly higher | 2.23 | 2.37 | - | - |
| Feedback Derogation | 5 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 3.08 | 1.13 | 0.79 | 0.89 |
| <u>St</u> | <u>udy 1b l</u> | Melanoma Skin Cancer | | | | |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (general) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 3.08 | 1.28 | 0.87 | 0.91 |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (melanoma) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 2.96 | 1.27 | 0.86 | 0.91 |
| Feedback Valence | - | 1 = significantly lower, 9 = significantly higher | 6.40 | 2.78 | - | - |
| Feedback Derogation | 5 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 3.87 | 1.36 | 0.88 | 0.90 |
| Stud | dy 2 Ass | signed Risk Test (1 of 9) | | | | |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (general) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree | 2.13 | 0.87 | 0.91 | 0.92 |
| Feedback Valence | - | 1 = significantly lower, 9 = significantly higher | 5.55 | 2.55 | - | - |
| Feedback derogation | 6 | 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree | 2.62 | 0.92 | 0.93 | 0.93 |
| <u>Stud</u> | y 3 Risk | of Spreading COVID-19 | | | | |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (general) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree | 1.85 | 0.68 | 0.85 | 0.89 |
| Predisposition to avoid health information (COVID-19) | 8 | 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree | 1.83 | 0.68 | 0.87 | 0.92 |
| Feedback Derogation | 12 | 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree | 2.62 | 0.78 | 0.92 | 0.94 |
| Study 4 Ca | lories In | formation from Menu Selection | | | | |
| Feedback Derogation | 1 | 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree | 4.10 | 2.00 | - | - |

Note. Table of measures used across all studies.

Table 2Study 1a Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations with Confidence Intervals

| Variable | M | SD | 1 | 2 | 3 |
|---|------|------|-----------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| 1. Predisposition to avid (general) | 2.91 | 1.55 | | | |
| 2. Predisposition to avoid (heart disease risk) | 2.70 | 1.52 | .78** [0.68, 0.86] | | |
| 3. Risk Feedback Valence | 2.23 | 2.37 | .14 [-0.08, 0.36] | .03 [-0.20, 0.25] | |
| 4. Feedback Derogation | 3.08 | 1.13 | .37** [.10, .59] | .20 [08, .46] | .24 [-0.05, 0.48] |

Table 3Study 1b Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations with Confidence Intervals

| Variable | M | SD | 1 | 2 | 3 |
|--|------|------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------|
| 1. Predisposition to Avoid Health Information (General) | 3.08 | 1.28 | | | |
| 2. Predisposition to Avoid Health Information (Melanoma) | 2.96 | 1.27 | .85** [.80, .89] | | |
| 3. Risk Feedback Valence | 6.40 | 2.78 | 00 [16, .16] | 02 [18, .14] | |
| 4. Feedback Derogation | 3.87 | 1.36 | .20* [.02, .37] | .24** [.06, .40] | .21* [.03, .37] |

Table 4Study 2 Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations with Confidence Intervals

| Variable | M | SD | 1 | 2 |
|--|------|------|---------------------|---------------------|
| 1. Predisposition to Avoid Health Information (General) | 2.13 | 0.87 | | |
| 2. Risk Feedback Valence | 5.55 | 2.55 | .01 [05, .06] | |
| 3. Feedback Derogation | 2.62 | 0.92 | .18** [.12, .24] | .26** [.20, .32] |

Table 5

Study 2 Fixed-Effects ANVOA

| Predictor | Sum of Squares | df | Mean Square | F | p | $_{\text{partial}}\eta^2$ | _{partial} η ² 90% CI [LL, UL] |
|-----------------------|----------------------|-----|----------------|--------|------|---------------------------|---|
| (Intercept) | 499.12 | 1 | 499.12 | 640.68 | .000 | | |
| Assigned Risk Test | 67.65 | 8 | 8.46 | 10.85 | .000 | .08 | [.05, .10] |
| Error | 747.12 | 959 | 0.78 | | | | |

Note. One-way fixed effects ANOVA predicting feedback derogation as a function of condition (assigned risk test), revealing that feedback derogation differed across risk tests. LL and UL represent the lower-limit and upper-limit of the partial η^2 confidence interval, respectively.

Table 6Study 2 Mean and Standard Deviations of Feedback Derogation by Risk Test

| Assigned Risk Test | M | SD |
|----------------------|------|------|
| Lung Cancer | 3.01 | 0.95 |
| Prediabetes | 2.42 | 0.94 |
| Stroke | 2.55 | 0.90 |
| Prostate Cancer | 2.97 | 0.82 |
| Diabetes | 2.63 | 0.98 |
| Heart Disease | 2.15 | 0.72 |
| Melanoma Skin Cancer | 2.87 | 0.90 |
| Colon Cancer | 2.50 | 0.82 |
| Breast Cancer | 2.75 | 0.82 |

Note. M and SD represent mean and standard deviation, respectively.

Table 7
Study 2 Multi-Level Model Predicting Derogation from Predisposition to Avoid

| • | Model 1 | | | | Model 2 | | | | | |
|-------------------------|-----------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------|-----------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-------|
| Fixed Effects | Coef. | 95% CI [LL, UL] | t val. | df | p | Coef. | 95% CI [LL, UL] | t val. | df | p |
| Intercept | 2.66 | 2.48, 2.85] | 28.62 | 8.06 | <.001 | 2.66 | [2.48, 2.85] | 28.70 | 8.05 | <.001 |
| Predisposition to avoid | 0.19 | [0.12, 0.26] | 5.46 | 958.28 | <.001 | 0.19 | [0.13, 0.26] | 5.46 | 957.26 | <.001 |
| Feedback Valence | - | - | - | - | - | 0.07 | [0.05, 0.10] | 6.07 | 957.20 | <.001 |
| | Model 1 | | | | | M | Iodel 2 | | | |
| Random Effects | Parameter | SD | | | | Parameter | SD | | | |
| Assigned Risk Test | Intercept | 0.27 | | | | Intercept | 0.26 | | | |
| Residual | - | 0.87 | | | | - | 0.85 | | | |
| | | M | odel 1 | | | | M | Iodel 2 | | |
| Model Fit | AIC | BIC | Psuedo- R ² (Fixed) | Psuedo- R ² (Total) | ICC | AIC | BIC | Psuedo -R ² (Fixed) | Psuedo- R ² (Total) | ICC |
| | 2511.86 | 2531.36 | 0.03 | 0.11 | 0.09 | 2484.61 | 2508.98 | 0.06 | 0.14 | 0.09 |

Note: Both models estimate a random intercept for derogation across groups while estimating the fixed effect of predisposition to avoid (model 1) and feedback valence (model 2). Both predictor variables were group-mean centered.

Table 8Study 3 Means, Standard Deviations, and Correlations with Confidence Intervals

| Variable | M | SD | 1 | 2 |
|---|------|------|--------------------|--------------------|
| 1. Predisposition to Avoid Health Information (General) | 1.87 | 0.63 | | |
| 2. Predisposition to Avoid Health Information (COVID-19 transmission risk specific) | 1.84 | 0.66 | .62** | |
| | | | [.49, .72] | |
| 3. Feedback Derogation | 2.46 | 0.69 | .23* [.04, .40] | .24* [.06, .41] |

 Table 9

 Study 3 Regression Results Predicting Derogation from Predisposition to Avoid Health Information in General

| Predictor | b | <i>b</i> 95% CI [LL, UL] | sr^2 | sr² 95% CI [LL, UL] | Fit |
|--|---------|--------------------------------|--------|---------------------------|--------------------------------|
| (Intercept) | 0.15* | [0.02, 0.29] | | | |
| Choice condition | -0.31** | [-0.51, -0.12] | .04 | [01, .09] | |
| General health information avoidance | 0.27** | [0.08, 0.46] | .03 | [01, .07] | |
| Choice Condition: General health information avoidance | -0.02 | [-0.31, 0.28] | .00 | [00, .00] | |
| | | | | | $R^2 = .087**$ 95% CI[.02,.15] |

Note. Includes interaction term to test for moderation of slopes between experimental conditions. A significant *b*-weight indicates the semi-partial correlation is also significant. *b* represents unstandardized regression weights. sr^2 represents the semi-partial correlation squared. LL and UL indicate the lower and upper limits of a confidence interval, respectively. * indicates p < .05. ** indicates p < .01.

Table 10
Study 3 Regression Predicting Derogation on Predisposition to Avoid Information Specific to Spreading COVID-19

| | | b | | sr^2 | |
|---|---------|--------------------|--------|-----------|--------------------------------|
| Predictor | b | 95% CI | sr^2 | 95% CI | Fit |
| | | [LL, UL] | | [LL, UL] | |
| (Intercept) | 0.16* | [0.02, 0.30] | | | |
| Choice Condition | -0.32** | [-0.51, - 0.12] | .04 | [01, .09] | |
| Covid Information Avoidance | 0.28** | [0.08, 0.47] | .03 | [01, .07] | |
| Choice condition: Covid Information Avoidance | -0.02 | [-0.32, 0.27] | .00 | [00, .00] | |
| | | | | | $R^2 = .088**$ 95% CI[.02,.15] |

Note. Includes an interaction term to test for a moderation of slop between experimental conditions. A significant b-weight indicates the semi-partial correlation is also significant. b represents unstandardized regression weights. sr^2 represents the semi-partial correlation squared. LL and UL indicate the lower and upper limits of a confidence interval, respectively. * indicates p < .05. ** indicates p < .01

Table 11Age and Sex at Birth Descriptive Statistics Across All Studies

| Study | N | M_{age} | SD_{age} | Minage | Max _{age} | % Women | % Men |
|----------|------|-----------|------------|--------|--------------------|---------|--------|
| Study 1a | 75 | 30.45 | 12.39 | 19 | 69 | 42.67% | 57.33% |
| Study 1b | 150 | 33.08 | 12.61 | 18 | 81 | 46.67% | 53.33% |
| Study 2 | 1144 | 44.04 | 16.52 | 18 | 92 | 51.31% | 48.60% |
| Study 3 | 238 | 28.8 | 10.24 | 18 | 74 | 47.48% | 50.42% |
| Study 4 | 243 | 20.2 | 2.51 | 18 | 42 | 69.55% | 29.63% |

Appendix A: Measurement Scales

Predisposition to Avoid Health Information

The predisposition to avoid health information in general was measured using the following items. The items below were used in Studies 1a, 1b, 2, and 3. To measure the predisposition to avoid information specific to the health threat assessed by the studies risk test, we replaced the phrase "my health" with the following stems: Study 1a: "my risk for heart disease;" Study 1b: my risk for melanoma skin cancer;" Study 3: my risk for spreading COVID-19 to others". Response options varied: Study 1a and 1b: 1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree; Study 2 and 3: 1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree.

- 1. I would rather not know information about [my health].
- 2. I would avoid learning information about [my health].
- 3. Even if it will upset me, I want to know information about [my health]. (Reverse Coded)
- 4. When it comes to information about [my health], ignorance is bliss.
- 5. I want to know information about [my health]. (Reverse Coded)
- 6. I can think of situations in which I would rather not know information about [my health].
- 7. It is important to know information about [my health]. (Reverse Coded)
- 8. I want to know information about [my health] immediately. (Reverse Coded)

Information Avoidance Decision

Do you want to know your comparative risk?

Study 1a and 1b

Based on your responses to the risk test we can give you your comparative risk for heart disease [melanoma skin cancer at the end of this survey (Your risk will indicate whether you are at higher, lower, or at equal risk compared to the average person your age and gender).

| · · |
|---|
| O Yes, please give me my risk for heart disease [melanoma skin cancer] |
| O No, I do not want to learn my risk for heart disease [melanoma skin cancer] |

Study 2

Based on your responses to the previous questions we can give you your comparative risk for \${e://Field/cond} at the end of this survey (Your risk will indicate whether you are at higher, lower, or at equal risk compared to the average person your age and sex assigned at

| birth). |
|--|
| Do you want to know your comparative risk? |
| ○ Yes, please give me my risk for \${e://Field/cond} |
| O No, I do not want to learn my risk for \${e://Field/cond} |
| Note: the text presented to participants depended on their assignment to condition. For example, those assigned to the breast cancer condition viewed "my risk for breast cancer." |
| Study 3 |
| Based on your responses to the previous questions, we can give you your comparative risk for spreading COVID-19 at the end of this survey (Your risk will indicate whether you are at higher, lower, or at equal risk compared to the average person your age and gender). |
| Do you want to know your comparative risk? |
| ○ Yes |
| ○ No |
| Study 4 |
| Do you want to know how many calories were actually in the meal you chose? |
| O Yes, please tell me how many calories were actually in the meal I chose |
| O No, I do not |

Feedback Derogation

Feedback derogation was measured using the following items in response to the stem "My risk feedback is...;" the response scale and the specific items used varied across studies. Response scales used were as follows: Study 1a and 1b: $1 = strongly \ disagree$, $7 = strongly \ agree$; Study 2 and 3: $1 = strongly \ disagree$, $5 = strongly \ agree$. Study 1a, 1b used the following items: 1, 3, 4, 5, 6. Study 2 added item 16. We added the remaining items for Study 3 and preregistered the following items for our analysis: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 10, 11, 12, 16, 17, and 18. The remaining items were preregistered as exploratory.

My risk feedback...

- 1. Is accurate (Reverse Scored)
- 2. Is trying to manipulate me
- 3. Does not represent my true risk
- 4. Is distorted
- 5. Is exaggerated
- 6. Is too extreme
- 7. Will affect my behavior
- 8. Is about what I expected (Reverse Scored)
- 9. Likely comes from scientifically based evidence (Reverse Scored)
- 10. Is stupid
- 11. Is pointless
- 12. Is useless
- 13. Is not relevant to me
- 14. Made me feel bad
- 15. Made me feel happy (Reverse Scored)
- 16. Is misleading
- 17. Makes me feel aggravated
- 18. Is irritating
- 19. Is meant for other people, not me
- 20. I already knew that I was at risk of spreading COVID-19
- 21. I'll change my behavior long before anything bad happens